
 
 

 
i 

 
Cambridge City Council 

Services, Climate and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Date:  Tuesday, 2 December 2025 

Time:  5.30 pm 

Venue:  Council Chamber, The Guildhall, Market Square, Cambridge, CB2 
3QJ [access the building via Peashill entrance] 

Contact:   democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk, tel:01223 457000 
 
Agenda 
 

1    Declarations of Interest  

2    Minutes  

3    Public Questions  

4    Community Wealth Building Strategy Implementation (Pages 3 - 50) 

5    Task and Finish Work on Bin Fill Levels and 
Scheduling (Pages 51 - 54) 

6    Work Programme (Pages 55 - 58) 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 
ii 

 
 
 

Services, Climate and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Members: Young (Chair), Gardiner-Smith (Vice-Chair), Divkovic, Glasberg, 
Griffin, Hauk, Payne, Pounds and Swift 

Alternates: Bick, Martinelli and Tong 
 

Emergency Evacuation Procedure  
In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building 
by way of the nearest escape route and proceed directly to the assembly 
point in front St Mary’s Church. The duty Officer will assume overall control 
during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the duty Officer is 
unavailable, this responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair. 
 

Information for the public 
The public may record (e.g. film, audio, tweet, blog) meetings which are open 
to the public.  
 
For full information about committee meetings, committee reports, councillors 
and the democratic process:  

• Website: http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk  

• Email: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 

• Phone: 01223 457000 
 
This Meeting will be live streamed to the Council’s YouTube page. You can 
watch proceedings on the livestream or attend the meeting in person. 
 
Those wishing to address the meeting will be able to do so virtually via 
Microsoft Teams, or by attending to speak in person. You must contact 
Democratic Services democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk by 12 noon two 
working days before the meeting. 
 
The full text of any public question must be submitted in writing by 
noon two working days before the date of the meeting or it will not be 
accepted. All questions submitted by the deadline will be published on 
the meeting webpage before the meeting is held. 
 
Further information on public speaking will be supplied once registration and 
the written question / statement has been received. 

 

http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


 

 

REPORT: COMMUNITY WEALTH BUILDING STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION 

Report to Services, Climate and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Date December 2nd 2025 

Lead Cabinet Member Cllr Anna Smith, Lead Cabinet Communities 

Lead Officer Sam Scharf, Director of Communities   

 

1. Purpose of this report 

This report provides a full update on the delivery of the Community Wealth Building (CWB) 

Strategy, approved in 2024. It brings together progress across procurement and social value, 

the inclusive economy programme, community grants and investment, neighbourhood 

working, meanwhile use, and whole system partnership work.  

The intention is to give Scrutiny a comprehensive view of delivery to date, areas of strength, 

areas of development and opportunities for deeper partnership over the coming year. 

Summary boxes are included throughout to support readability and help residents and 

councillors understand what the work means in practical terms. 

Scrutiny is invited to comment on progress, identify areas where additional assurance may 

be helpful and advise on priorities for the next phase of the programme.  Particular attention 

should be paid to a number of areas that are being developed and proposed more 

immediately, with Scrutiny feedback helpful in directly informing these considerations. 

Scrutiny is specifically asked to consider: 

• Social value policy – whether the current approach and weighting are sufficient and 

how the Council should strengthen consistent, proportionate monitoring. 

• Community grants – the balance between long-term, multi-year investment in key 

organisations and maintaining flexibility for small, grassroots grants. 

• Meanwhile use of assets – the principles that should guide a clearer, fairer approach 

to temporary use of underused buildings for community and cultural benefit. 

• Performance measures – whether the developing indicators provide a meaningful 

view of outcomes and how reporting can best support political oversight (Appendix 1) 

Scrutiny’s guidance on these areas will help shape the ongoing work and ensure that the 

Community Wealth Building programme continues to deliver practical benefits for residents 

and communities. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



2. Background 

The Community Wealth Building Strategy was adopted by the Council in 2024 to set out a 

long-term approach for creating a fairer, more inclusive and more resilient local economy. 

The Strategy builds on the principles of community wealth building that have been 

developed across the UK, where a growing number of local authorities have adopted similar 

approaches to strengthen local economies, support communities and ensure that public 

value is maximised through local assets and local spend.   

The Strategy states that its purpose is to use the Council’s assets, resources and influence 

to ensure that economic prosperity in Cambridge is more widely shared, that local people 

and organisations benefit from growth, and that communities are supported to thrive. It aims 

to reduce inequality, strengthen the role of local organisations, and create the conditions for 

long-term wellbeing and opportunity across the city. 

The Strategy focuses on four core ambitions: 

• using the Council’s assets, spend and powers to secure greater social, economic and 

environmental benefit for residents 

• supporting a more inclusive and sustainable local economy 

• investing in the capacity of communities and local organisations 

• working with partners across the system to prevent crisis and improve outcomes 

This report updates Scrutiny on progress in delivering these ambitions and seeks views on 

several areas that will shape the next phase of work. 

3. Overview of progress 

The Council has made significant progress in delivering the Strategy, with strong work 

emerging in procurement, community development, grants, economy and neighbourhood 

partnerships. The Council’s work has been enhanced by findings from the Cambridgeshire 

Poverty Strategy Commission (2024)1, which endorses many of the areas of focus and 

delivery already achieved.  

This report provides detailed updates under each of the four themes. 

4. Theme 1 – Using our assets, powers and spend 

4.1 Procurement and social value 

The Council has strengthened its approach to social value through a draft Social Value 

Policy, Social Value Framework2 which is live and in use alongside the implementation of 

Match My Project3 platform. This has created a coherent and consistent approach across the 

organisation to support the organisation with (a) better understanding of how and where we 

spend our money regarding charities, social enterprises and locally (b) work in collaboration 

with contractors to enhance what they do and impact they have in the community (c) make it 

 
1 Cambridgeshire Poverty Strategy Commission final report 
2 Social Value Framework - Cambridge City Council 
3 Match my Project - Cambridge City Council 

Page 4

https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/asset-library/Cambridgeshire-Poverty-Strategy-Commission-final-report.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/twobc2e0/social-value-framework.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/match-my-project


clear and easy to direct resources across the City from the over £100million a year spent 

through the Council.  

Key developments include: 

• Through transformation we have dedicated officer time to develop and implement this 

programme. 

• Social value is now embedded in procurement activity.  With recent examples being 

City Homes planned works programme, approval of CIP Social Value Framework and 

within the Leisure Contract Tender (currently live) 

• A proposed minimum ten percent weighting is proposed across tenders, with Director 

approval required for any exceptions 

• The proposed implementation of TOMs4 (Themes, Outcomes and Measures) to 

provide a structure for monitoring to allow for consistency in reporting 

• A growing number of suppliers are using Match My Project to offer community 

benefit.  We have 60 VCSE on site and 49 business. Currently we have 50 live 

projects, with 7 matches completed, 11 matches in progress. 

 

Examples of the outcomes from this work include: 

• Apprenticeships across the supply chain, with for example 13 through the current CIP 

programme for schemes on site 

• Activity delivered through skills programmes 

• Local supply chain commitments 

• Contributions to Match My Project, enabling new support for voluntary organisations 

Challenges:  

• Engaging with current contract managers and suppliers.  

• Working with suppliers to ensure delivery is meaningful locally and can be secured 

through contractual specificity.  

• Nationwide challenges from Social Value Benchmark report by Social Value Portal 

identifies environmental commitments as lagging.  

Next Steps: To support contract managers to make confident requests for social value 

commitments and to develop robust monitoring and recording of Social Value delivery for 

reporting. 

What this means for residents and communities 

• The Council is using its annual procurement spend of over one hundred million 

pounds to deliver even more benefit for residents 

• More opportunities will arise for local employment, apprenticeships and training 

 
4 Measurement | Social Value TOM System™ | Social Value Portal 

Page 5

https://www.socialvalueportal.com/measurement


• Local voluntary organisations will receive new forms of support through Match My 

Project 

• Local businesses, social enterprises and charities will have opportunities to deliver 

within Council supply chains 

• Case Study: Newly procured Planned Works contract will include apprenticeships 

and work experience, volunteering in homeless provision in the City, funding for 

feasibility studies, tree planting, financial commitment to MMP projects, promote and 

support events such as Black History Month, Refugee Week and Pride Month and 

the Armed Forces Covenant. 

4.2 Meanwhile use of assets 

Meanwhile use refers to temporary occupation of underused buildings for community or 

cultural activity.  

Although a formal programme is at an early stage, with work by Cambridge Ahead 

contributing to the thinking, Cambridge City Council already enables community access to 

space through: 

• Reduced rents for community, cultural and landlord tenants 

• Discretionary rate relief to charitable organisations 

• Short-term or flexible rental arrangements where appropriate 

The Council is exploring how this existing practice can be developed into a clearer 

framework, with transparent criteria and stronger alignment to the CWB Strategy.  This work 

is currently being procured and expected to take about six months (as part of a wider review 

of strategic assets).  Currently over 20 of our properties are utilised by charitable 

organisations. 

Asset availability will influence opportunities, as will the condition of buildings and timescales 

for redevelopment. Partnership opportunities are likely to emerge with landowners, 

developers and anchor institutions such as that with the Crown Estate.  The Councils role to 

promote this practice and support of Cambridge Ahead in the development of the work will 

hopefully leverage further opportunities across the City. 

Requirement for meanwhile use being included in the local plan, currently out for 

consultation  

 

What this means for residents and communities 

• More buildings can be activated for community, cultural and social activity.  For 

example offering longer term security of tenure where this supports groups to secure 

funding; or reducing rents to groups that work with local communities.  

• Local groups and charities can access space as meanwhile space.  For example the 

Crown Estate provision for CCVS and other Charities at Byron House. 

• Underused assets are used for public benefit while long term decisions are made.  

For example the Social Supermarket in Barnwell within a County Council property. 

Page 6



• Community activity helps make neighbourhoods safer and more vibrant.  For 

example in the use of meanwhile space around The Kite and Grafton Centre over 

recent months. 

 

Theme 2 – Building an inclusive and sustainable local economy 

The project overview and performance measures highlight a range of work that supports a 

more inclusive and sustainable economy. 

4.3 Inclusive growth programmes 

A number of programmes across the Council and through partners are set to help build a 

fairer and more resilient local economy, grounded in local organisations, local talent and 

shared prosperity. Some of these are dependent on external grant funding from the UK 

Shared Prosperity Fund which is due to close at the end of March. 

Key programmes include: 

• Region of Learning, widening access to learning and skills 

• Green Business initiatives, supporting sustainability in the local economy 

• Grow Your Business, offering support for market traders, start-ups and small 

enterprises 

• Support and partnership working with local business networks that support 

independent businesses and facilitate links between the community sector and 

business 

• Living Wage promotion across Cambridge 

• Food justice initiatives and social supermarket support 

• Work with Cambridge Ahead and local employers on inclusive hiring and progression 

pathways 

• Investment in VCSE across Abbey and the North of the City, focusing on capacity 

building and long term sustainable development  

4.4 Social procurement research  

We have commissioned research from a consortia led by Middlesex University with Judge 

Business School and Social Enterprise UK, into the opportunity to explore how we could 

strengthen our partnership with other local organisations around social value in procurement, 

learning from best practice and seeking feedback via interviews with key stakeholders. We 

are expecting the final report in December which will: 

• discuss key insights gathered from interviews and share a Good Practice Guide, which 

draws from both UK and international case studies. 

• Explore opportunities for collaboration, such as developing shared procurement 

systems and metrics to streamline processes for suppliers. 

• Define actionable next steps that can drive social value, reduce unnecessary 

complexity, and align procurement with organisational goals. 

Page 7



 

4.5 Pledge and Greater Cambridge Impact 

Greater Cambridge Impact (GCI) is a new social investment vehicle which has been set up 

to bring innovation to tackling poverty and inequality in a way that is lasting and meaningful. 

It brings together funding from the Council and other partners to invest in projects that make 

a real difference to people’s lives. 

The Council has agreed to invest £800,000 subject to final due diligence which is now 

underway, in addition to the £200,000 seed funding it provided.  The Councils £1m 

commitment has already leveraged significant investment including £1m from the 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority and £1m from the Cambridge 

Building Society.  

The Cambridge Pledge Foundation is also an equity investor in GCI and is being set up to 

make it easier for entrepreneurs and others benefiting from the Cambridge innovation and 

business ecosystem to help improve the life chances of individuals and communities in the 

area. The Pledge will provide a vehicle for businesses and individuals to contribute a 

percentage of their future wealth and make donations, helping to grow the amount that can 

be invested by GCI over time, paving the way for future rounds of investment in social 

innovation projects to benefit the community. 

Greater Cambridge Impact is on track to hit its initial £6m target for a first close in the next 

few months, with discussion already underway on investments that would take it to £10m 

and pave the way for much more investment in the future. 

The goal is to support projects that address inequality, improve life chances, and create a 

fairer, more inclusive Cambridge. 

GCI will focus on supporting: 

• Disadvantaged young people, including those struggling at school or out of work 

• Children in care and care-experienced young people 

• Families facing crisis or poverty 

• People who are homeless  

What this means for residents and communities 

• Access to new projects and services that will address systemic problems not easily 

solved by standard models of funding 

• Increased access to long-term patient finance for charities and social impact 

businesses that complements grants and other funding streams and helps to 

strengthen our local community and voluntary sector 

• Stronger links between entrepreneurs, employers and local communities across 

Greater Cambridge 

Page 8



• Opportunities to improve economic and employment outcomes for local people and 

business owners 

 

Theme 3 – Empowering residents and communities 

5.1 Community grants and investment 

The Council invests around £1.2 million pounds per year through the Community Grants 

Programme. In 2024 the Council piloted multi-year grants for three core organisations, 

responding to feedback from Scrutiny5 and in line with the Cambridgeshire Compact 

commitment to support a sustainable voluntary and community sector. 

The developing work on our community grants for 2027 is looking to continue this 

development based on three funding tiers: 

• Tier one: small, flexible grants up to five thousand pounds for innovation, local 

projects and emerging need 

• Tier two: multi-year project based grants supporting regular activity across the city or 

in specific neighbourhoods 

• Tier three: multi year core grants for established organisations delivering the majority 

of their activity in Cambridge and strongly aligned to the Communities Group 

outcomes 

This model also responds to the Poverty Commission recommendation for longer-term 

investment in trusted local organisations, reducing administrative burden, improve staff 

stability and support organisations to plan well, adapt to need and focus on long-term 

outcomes. 

Feedback from organisations in the pilot support this direction. The Chief Executive of 

Cambridge Citizens Advice commented: 

“Moving to a three year funding cycle has had a significant impact on staff retention and 

financial planning. Knowing we have longevity of funding has allowed us to assure staff their 

roles will be maintained for three years which has reduced the impact of staff starting to look 

for other jobs towards the end of the funding. Additionally, being able to forecast our budgets 

and spending over a longer period has provided greater certainty for longer term spending.” 

The Council will refine eligibility criteria, engage further with the sector and risk assess the 

processes and monitoring expectations ahead of Cabinet consideration in early 2026. 

What this means for residents and communities 

• More stable organisations providing advice, support, culture and youth activity 

• Stronger staffing and fewer service disruptions within the sector 

• Support for new and small groups who want to test ideas 

 
5 Agenda for Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee on Thursday, 16th January, 2025, 6.00 pm 
- Cambridge Council 

Page 9

https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=476&MId=4451&utm_source=chatgpt.com
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=476&MId=4451&utm_source=chatgpt.com


• Funding aligned to the Council’s long-term outcomes and neighbourhood needs 

Scrutiny is invited to comment on the direction of travel for the Community Grants 

Programme and the proposed balance between multi-year investment, organisational 

stability and ongoing support for small grassroots projects. 

5.2 Neighbourhood working and community engagement 

In the previous Scrutiny a refreshed approach to community and democratic engagement 

was presented and subsequently being further developed following Scrutiny feedback. 

Neighbourhood working continues to develop across Cambridge, aligned with the Cities 

primary health structures and looking to bring together community development, housing, 

environmental health, community safety and multi-disciplinary case work. This integrated 

approach helps create consistency in how the Council engages with residents and is set up 

to support an approach to early intervention in service delivery. 

The forerunner for this work has been in Abbey, and has been recognised nationally through 

the Government’s Civil Society Covenant6 case study, which highlights the Council’s 

collaboration with community groups and residents in shaping the future of the area. This 

aligns with the CWB commitment to place communities at the centre of decision making and 

build community power. 

What this means for residents and communities 

• A more coordinated presence in neighbourhoods 

• Earlier help and clearer routes to support 

• A stronger sense of community voice and partnership 

• National recognition of the approach taken in Abbey 

 

Theme 4 – Working as a whole system with partners 

The Council continues to develop a whole system (working across agencies) approach 

across its services and partnerships, strengthening the way organisations work together to 

prevent crisis, respond earlier and improve outcomes for residents. This approach is 

practical, place-based and increasingly aligned with the way the health system is organising 

itself at neighbourhood level through Integrated Neighbourhoods. 

Alignment with health and Integrated Neighbourhoods 

Neighbourhood working in Cambridge is now directly aligned with the Integrated Care 

System at Primary Care Network level. This enables joint work across the Council, GP 

practices, health visiting, community nursing, social care, mental health, and the voluntary 

sector. Shared priorities are emerging in areas such as fraility, early help, complex case 

management, homelessness prevention, housing-related health barriers, anti-social 

behaviour, family resilience and wider determinants of health. 

 
6 Civil Society Covenant: Cambridge City Council - Case study - GOV.UK 

Page 10

https://www.gov.uk/government/case-studies/civil-society-covenant-cambridge-city-council


This alignment has strengthened cross-organisational case management, with regular joint 

meetings between community development staff, environmental health, community safety, 

housing, PCNs and VCSE partners. This has already resulted in more coordinated support 

for households with multiple needs and earlier identification of vulnerability. 

Community Safety Partnership and city-wide coordination 

The Community Safety Partnership continues to provide system leadership across partners 

including the police, county council, health, fire, probation and the voluntary sector. The 

partnership plays a key role in addressing anti-social behaviour, community harm, 

exploitation and safeguarding.  

The Council’s contribution to maintaining a safe, welcoming city centre was recognised 

through the retention of the Purple Flag accreditation, demonstrating continued excellence in 

night-time economy management, community safety, and coordinated partnership working 

with the Cambridge BID, businesses, transport providers and police. 

Alignment with wider system initiatives 

The Council continues to work closely with key regional partners including Cambridgeshire 

County Council, the Combined Authority, the Greater Cambridge Partnership, local colleges, 

Cambridge Ahead, Innovate Cambridge, The Cambridge BID, Universities and major 

employers. This helps support shared priorities in economic inclusion, housing, public safety, 

skills, community spaces and health. An example of how this is working is our partnership 

with Innovate Cambridge and the shaping of a vision and strategy for a globally successful 

innovation eco-system that drives inclusive growth and benefits people locally. Underneath 

this strategy we have been able to garner support for the establishment of the Cambridge 

Pledge and to promote the need for inclusive innovation to government, investors and 

businesses. 

What this means for residents and communities 

• More coordinated and earlier support and resolution of support from services that 

work together 

• Stronger links between the Council, health partners and voluntary organisations 

• Better prevention of crisis and more consistent support for households with multiple 

needs 

• Shared responsibility and joint working to achieve socially inclusive economic growth 

that improves quality of life and addresses inequality  

 

7. Summary of progress and remaining challenges 

The Council has made strong progress across all four themes of the CWB Strategy. Key 

achievements include: 

• Embedding social value in procurement and major contracts 

• Developing Match My Project and strengthening supplier engagement 

Page 11



• Progressing inclusive economy programmes across skills, business support, food 

justice and innovation 

• Piloting multi-year grants and setting out a refreshed three tier framework 

• Strengthening neighbourhood working and achieving national recognition for Abbey 

• Developing regional work on meanwhile use 

• Aligning with the Poverty Commission and building stronger whole system 

partnerships 

Remaining challenges include: 

• Embedding the Community Wealth Building performance measures into the Councils 

developing performance framework 

• Developing consistent and proportionate contract management for social value 

• Establishing a clearer and more strategic framework for meanwhile use 

• Managing budget pressures linked to expansion of multi-year grants 

• Continuing to stabilise and build capacity within the VCSE sector 

 

8. Next steps for 2026 

• Finalise contract management and assurance mechanisms for social value 

• Develop a formal framework for meanwhile use 

• Complete modelling and consultation on the Community Grants Programme, multi-

year, tiered structure 

• Support the next phase of the Pledge and Greater Cambridge Impact 

• Continue to build the neighbourhood model and deepen partnerships with health 

• Continue to build partnerships around the inclusive economy with a focus on 

improving skills and economic opportunity for young people 

Page 12



CWB outputs and outcome measures

Workstream Objective Outputs Baseline (2023/24) Outcomes/Key results (OKRs) Baseline (2023/24) Target (2025/26) Data source Data status Data owner 

Increased social and 
environmental benefits 
generated by council 
spending

Total monetary value of social 
value commitments made by 
contractors

Number of projects supported 
(through social value 
commitments) which deliver the 
outcomes identified in the 
Communities Impact Framework

Match My Project System procured 
and can provide 
this data

Joanna 
Hodgson

% of contracts awarded to local 
companies

In 2023/24, 1,904 (25.8%) 
out of 7,380 transactions 
were with Cambridge 
companies. 

Tussell Currently 
collected

Guy Dujon

Total value of contracts awarded to 
local companies

In 2023/24, £23.7m (16.9%) 
out £140m total spend was 
with Cambridge companies

Tussell Currently 
collected

Guy Dujon

Number of people starting 
apprenticeships at the council 

5 newly recruited 
apprentices
3 existing staff

Number of people completing 
apprenticeships and their sense of 
skills gained

7 existing staff 
completed 
apprenticeships 2023/24

Target to double number 
of apprenticeship starts 
from 2023/24 - 16

HR data on 
apprenticeships plus 
Follow up survey with 
apprentices

Not currently 
collected, but HR 
can collect this

Bev Howlett

Number of people supported into 
apprenticeships in local SMEs, 
charities and not for profits 
(through Apprenticeship Levy 
transfer)

2 in 2022/23
0 in 2023/24
2 in 2024/25

Number of people completing 
apprenticeships and their sense of 
skills gained

1 in 2023/24 2 HR data on 
apprenticeships plus 
Follow up survey with 
apprentices

Not currently 
collected, but HR 
can collect this

Bev Howlett

Number of people with improved 
pre-employment skills as a result of 
Council programmes

Number of people gaining a 
qualification or completing a 
course following support. 

Sharing Prosperity 
Fund (SPF) monitoring 
data

Currently 
collected

Jemma Little

 Work to unlock barriers for people 
from different communities to 
apply for our roles, including those 
disadvantaged by other systems or 
opportunities. 

% of staff recruited who live in:  
a) the most deprived wards in 
Cambridge (Abbey, Arbury, East 
Chesterton and Kings Hedges), 
b) Cambridge 
c) outside Cambridge

a) 15.5%
b) 34.4%
c) 65.5%

 
b) 40%
c) 70%

HR data on 
recruitment

Not currently 
collected, but HR 
can collect this 
data manually.

Vickie Jameson

 Work to unlock barriers for people 
from different communities to 
apply for our roles, including those 
disadvantaged by other systems or 
opportunities. 

% of staff recruited that are:
a) minority ethnic people
b) disabled
c) people with care experience 
d) people with armed forces 
experience

a)42.2%
b)5.1%
c)unknown (not gathered 
for this time period)
d)unknown (not gathered 
for this time period)

a) 50%
b) 15%
c) 5%
d) 5%

HR data on 
recruitment

HR already collect 
data on ethnicity 
and disability and 
will ne collecting 
data on armed 
forces.

Vickie Jameson

a) Total value of Council grant 
funding provided to voluntary and 
community organisations to 
address social and economic 
inequality
b) Total value of grant funded 
activities (including additional 
income rasied by community 
groups)
c) Numbers of trustees supporting 
funded groups
d) Numbers of volunteers 
supporting funded groups

a) £1,040,572
b) £4,500,000
c) 346
d) 2,373

Not possible to set 
outcome targets across 
the whole Community 
Grants programme, as 
outcomes for individual 
grant awards are 
measured differently 

Community Grants 
monitoring data

Currently 
collected

Julie Cornwell

Total value of money invested by 
Greater Cambridge Impact

Number of projects delivering 
Greater Cambridge Impact 
outcomes

0 0 Greater Cambridge 
Impact monitoring 
data

Jemma Little

Total value of money pledged and 
realised through the Cambridge 

Number of projects delivering 
Greater Cambridge Impact 

0 0 Jemma Little

Number of businesses  receiving 
financial support

Currently 
collected

Number of businesses  receiving 
non financial support

Numbers of businesses provided 
with assistance to be business 
ready

Numbers of new businesses 
created

Sharing Prosperity 
Fund (SPF) monitoring 
data

Currently 
collected

Jemma Little

Numbers of businesses reached 
through engagement activities 
(including events, newsletters, 
digital engagement) 

% increase in business 
engagement

Annual Business 
Survey (delivered 
through CitizenLab)

Not currently 
collected but 
survey is planned

Jemma Little

Number of new positive 
procurement practices adopted by 

 

Currently 
collected

Number of new positive 
employment practices adopted by 
anchor institutions

Numbers of people and 
organisations reached through 
engagement activities (including 
events newsletters, digital 
engagement) 

Increased networking, 
collaboration and co-production 
between community groups and 
local partner organisations 

Outputs - Focus on 
Abbey and Shaping 
Abbey monitoring

Outputs – 
currently 
collected

Vicky Haywood

Number of organisations receiving 
financial support

Numbers of community-led 
projects delivered that deliver 
community benefits 

Outcome – survey of 
partners

Outcome – can 
be collected 
through a period 
‘pulse’ survey

Vicky Haywood

Number of organisations receiving 
non financial support

Numbers of community-led 
projects delivered that deliver 
community benefits 

Outputs and 
outcomes - Focus on 
Abbey  SPF 
monitoring

Currently 
collected 

Vicky Haywood

Sharing Prosperity 
Fund (SPF) monitoring 
data

Jemma Little

Sharing Prosperity 
Fund (SPF) monitoring 
data

Jemma Little

5. Whole system 
approaches in 
action (Focus on 
Abbey and 
Shaping Abbey)

Increased community 
capacity and social capital

Adoption of positive 
business practices by 
anchor institutions

Numbers of anchor institutions 
reached through engagement 
activities (including meetings, 
events, newsletters, digital 
engagement) 

Number of jobs a) created and b) 
safeguarded
Number of business with improved 
productivity
Number of businesses with 
improved sustainability (including 
reduced CO2 emissions)

3. Finance and 
investment 

Maximising investment in 
activity that reduces 
poverty and inequality and 
promotes an inclusive and 
sustainable economy

Thriving local businesses4. Business and 
anchor institution 
engagement

1. Procurement

Increased financial wealth 
retained in local economy 
and communities

Improved skills for local 
residents

Increased employment 
opportunities for local 
residents, including 
disadvantaged groups

Page 13



Theme Amount %
Reducing poverty

129150 12.4
Reducing social isolation

5710 0.5
Arts and culture 145302 14.0
Sporting activities 21387 2.1
Community development 218211 21.0
Employment support 58802 5.7
Legal and financial advice 341758 32.8
Voluntary sector capacity 
building 120252 11.6

Page 14



  
 

 

Community 
Wealth Building 
strategy and approach 
Building an inclusive and sustainable 
economy and tackling poverty and inequality 

Publication date: March 2024  Review date: by March 2029 

Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 1  

P
age 15



  

   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   
  

  

  

   

   
   

   
     

    
      

   
  

  

   
  

     

     

 

 

 

 
 

 

Contents 
1.0 Foreword 3 

2.0 Executive summary 4 

3.0 The Need for Change 6 

3.1 Economic prosperity in Cambridge 6 

3.2 Poverty in Cambridge 7 

3.3 Inequality in Cambridge 9 

4.0 One Cambridge – Fair for All 11 

4.1 Cambridge City Council’s vision 11 

4.2 Previous Anti-Poverty strategies 11 

4.3 The Community Wealth Building approach 12 

4.4 Defning wealth for Cambridge: The Wealth 
Economy framework and the Six Capitals  13 

5.0 Building Community Wealth in Cambridge 14 

5.1 Community Wealth Building approach 14 

5.2 Theme 1 - Using the Council’s resources, 
assets and powers to build community wealth 14 

5.3 Theme 2 - Building an inclusive and 
sustainable local economy  15 

5.4 Theme 3 – Empowering residents 
and communities  17 

5.5 Theme 4 - Supporting whole-system 
approaches  18 

5.6 Key asks of Council groups, anchor institutions, 
businesses and other stakeholders  20 

2 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

6.0 Implementation and impact measurement 21 

6.1 Implementing a Community Wealth 
Building approach  21 

6.2 Intermediate outcomes  21 

6.3 High-level outcomes  22 

Appendix A – Intermediate outcomes 23 

Appendix B – High-level outcomes 24 

Appendix C - Evidence of poverty afecting people with 
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 26 

Appendix D – Examples of activities in previous 
Anti-Poverty Strategies 28 

References 29 

Click on a 
title to skip to 

the section 

P
age 16



 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

1.0 Foreword 
Cambridge City Council is adopting a Community Wealth 
Building approach to help achieve our vision of a united 
city, ‘One Cambridge – Fair for All’. 

A city where economic dynamism and prosperity are combined with social 
equality and environmental justice. A vision for an international, entrepreneurial, 
diverse and welcoming city, which is a great place to live, work and learn and 
which supports its most vulnerable. 

Cambridge is a very successful, prosperous city. It has a thriving economy, 
driven by its world-leading higher education and research institutions and a 
globally signifcant cluster of high-growth, knowledge-intensive industries. 
The city has experienced strong economic growth, even during the economic 
downturn, and it is increasingly important to the future success of the national 
economy. 

Many Cambridge residents beneft from this economic success, through 
high employment rates, a buoyant jobs market and high average pay rates 
and disposable incomes. For many residents, this fnancial prosperity is 
accompanied by a high quality of life and very high levels of health and 
well-being. 

However, despite this overall prosperity, we know that signifcant numbers 
of people continue to experience poverty in Cambridge alongside many 
residents who face challenges due to a high cost of living and lack of 
afordable housing. 

3 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

There is also signifcant inequality in the city. 
Cambridge has the second highest level of income 
inequality of any city in England and Wales, and there 
are persistent gaps in educational outcomes and skill levels which 
can limit the life chances of people from low-income backgrounds in 
the city. Signifcant health inequalities also exist, with a 12-year diference in 
average life expectancy between the most and least afuent areas of the city. 

In this new strategy, we have taken the learning and experience of the growing 
number of towns and cities that have developed a Community Wealth Building 
approach to help tackle poverty and inequality and applied it in a Cambridge 
context. 

A key part of our Community Wealth Building approach is to ensure 
Cambridge’s economic success is shared locally and fairly, to enable residents 
and communities to beneft from the city’s long-term prosperity. This will 
include work to cultivate a more inclusive, fair and sustainable economy. 

The council will lead by example, by using its resources, assets and powers to 
build community wealth, from its spending power and planning powers to its 
buildings and land, from its positive employment practices to grants and social 
investment programmes. 

We will focus on building community power, investing in local communities, 
supporting local skills and good jobs, and working to unlock land and property 
for social good. However, we will not be able to achieve deep and lasting 
change on its own, so we commit to working closely and cooperatively 
with businesses, anchor institutions and local voluntary and community 
organisations to unleash the strengths and potential within Cambridge and 
build a fairer economy. 

Cllr Alice Gilderdale 

Executive Councillor for Community Wealth Building and Community Safety 

P
age 17



 2.0 Executive summary 
Cambridge is a world-class city in terms of its academic 
reputation and the knowledge-intensive economy that 
has sprung from this. It has a thriving, globally signifcant 
cluster of high-growth businesses in the digital and 
information technology and life sciences sectors. The city 
has experienced strong economic growth even during the 
recent economic downturn and is increasingly important to 
the future success of the national economy. 

Many Cambridge residents beneft from a high quality of life. The overall 
prosperity in the city creates job opportunities, high employment rates, and 
high levels of average pay and disposable incomes. Overall health outcomes 
in Cambridge are very high, and residents in the city also generally report high 
levels of wellbeing, happiness and satisfaction. 

Despite the continuing growth of the Cambridge economy and overall 
prosperity of the city, some households continue to experience low incomes 
and signifcant levels of poverty, and there are geographical concentrations 
of poverty and deprivation in particular areas in the city. These households 
and neighbourhoods are particularly afected by issues such as child poverty, 
food poverty and fuel poverty. The strength of the city’s economy also brings 
challenges, with many people in the city experiencing higher living costs, 
increased house prices and a lack of afordable housing. 

There is also signifcant inequality in Cambridge, with particularly high levels of 
income inequality and inequality in health outcomes. There is a signifcant gap 
in attainment at school between children from poorer households and those 
from more afuent backgrounds, together with fewer people from poorer 
backgrounds accessing further education opportunities. This contributes to a 
skills gap, with the majority of the population holding higher level qualifcations, 
but a signifcant number of residents in some areas of the city having no or low 
qualifcations. These education and skills gaps, combined with a concentration 
of high-skilled jobs in the city, contribute to low levels of social mobility. 

Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

The City Council has had an anti-poverty strategy since 2014, which has 
focussed on improving the standard of living and daily lives of residents in 
Cambridge who are experiencing poverty; and helping to alleviate issues that 
can lead households on low incomes to experience fnancial pressures. 

Over the past 10 years, we have been gradually evolving our approach. The 
Council will retain a focus on addressing the symptoms of poverty – by 
supporting people in immediate fnancial need – but we are also seeking to 
tackle the longer-term causes of poverty. We have increasingly recognised that 
this requires a combination of Council leadership and collaborative working 
with local communities and a range of local partner and key stakeholders to 
maximise our collective impact. 

4  

P
age 18

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/anti-poverty-strategy


 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

  

 

  

2.0 Executive summary (continued) 
To bring this new focus together, we have developed this new Community 
Wealth Building strategy, which will run from April 2024 onwards, when the 
current anti-poverty strategy ends. The strategy will outline our approach to 
reducing poverty and inequality in Cambridge and supporting a more inclusive, 
fair and sustainable economy. The strategy has been informed by consultation 
and engagement with a wide range of stakeholders in the community, 
voluntary, business and public sectors. 

As part of our approach, we will build on the experience and learning of other 
cities that have adopted a Community Wealth Building approach, through 
adopting progressive employment and procurement practices, supporting local 
businesses and social enterprises, investing in communities and maximising the 
benefts of community assets and land 

We will take a broad defnition of community ‘wealth’, that addresses economic 
inequality alongside other forms of wealth, including building human, social, 
knowledge, physical, natural and institutional ‘capital’.  Our approach recognises 
that all these forms of capital are needed to create sustainable prosperity.  

Our Community Wealth Building approach will focus on 

5 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

four areas of work: 

Using the 
Council’s resources, 
assets and powers 

• Procurement and spending power 

• Buildings and land assets 

• Voluntary sector grant funding 

• Employment practices 

1 

Building an inclusive and 
sustainable economy 

• Encouraging businesses and 
anchor institutions to adopt good 

employment and procurement 
practices 

• Local business and social 
enterprise support 

• Infuencing learning 
and skills provision 

Building community 
power 

• Working collaboratively with 
communities 

• Giving individuals agency and 
empowering communities 

• Focusing on strengths and 
potential that exist in 

communities 

3 

Taking a holistic, 
systems-based 

approach 
• Working collaboratively 

with a range of stakeholders, 
including communities, 

partner organisations and 
businesses 

4 

2 

P
age 19



 

 

 

  

  
 

 

 

  
 

  

 
 

 

3.0 The Need for Change 

3.1  Economic prosperity in Cambridge 
Cambridge is a world leader in the felds of higher education and research due 
to its universities and colleges. It has a highly successful economy, driven by 
the knowledge-intensive industries that have sprung from the academic and 
research expertise in its universities. The Council’s 2023 State of the City3 report 
shows that Cambridge has some of the highest concentrations of high-growth, 
knowledge-intensive businesses and spinouts in the country, and has been 
ranked as the leading scientifc and technology cluster globally, generating 
1 in 10 UK patents. 

The Cambridge economy has experienced strong economic growth and is 
increasingly important to the future success of the national economy. Prior to 
the Covid pandemic, Cambridge was the 11th fastest growing city economy 
in the country. The city’s economy has experienced a faster post-pandemic 
recovery than other cities, driven by the city’s resilient knowledge-intensive 
industries. 

Ranked 
in the top 30 
cities globally 

for quality 
of life. 

Many Cambridge residents beneft from the overall prosperity of the city. 
The State of the City4 report shows that: 

• Employment rates in Cambridge are close to record highs, 
with 8 in 10 residents in work. 

• Cambridge has a buoyant jobs market, recording more job vacancies 
than other cities in 2022, and displayed the fastest jobs growth in the 
country pre-pandemic. 

• Average pay in Cambridge is the 6th highest in the country and Cambridge 
residents have the 5th highest disposable incomes nationwide. 

• Cambridge has been ranked in the top 30 cities globally for quality of life5. 

• Three-quarters of Cambridge residents reported high or very high-levels 
of wellbeing6. Cambridge had the highest self-reported rates of happiness 
out of 58 cities in England and Wales, and the 6th highest rate of satisfaction. 

• Overall health outcomes in Cambridge are very high. The city had the 
highest average life expectancy in the period 2018-2020 of all cities in 
England (84.5 years for females and 80.9 years for males over 2018-20)7. 

Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 6  

P
age 20



 

 

 

  

 

 

Y H
IN

TO
N 

O
LERID

GE

EAST C
HESTERTO

N

KIN
GS H

EDGES 

M
ARKET 

NEW
NHAM

PETERSFIE
LD

Q
UEEN E

DIT
H’S 

UM
PIN

GTO
N

W
EST C

HESTERTO
N 

CASTLE 

O
M

SEY Y 

ABBEY 

ARBUR

R

CHERR C
TR

3.0 The Need for Change (continued) 

3.2  Poverty in Cambridge 
Despite the continuing growth of the Cambridge economy and the overall 
prosperity of the city, the Council’s 2023 State of the City report and other 
data sources show that some households in the city experience low income 
and signifcant levels of poverty and there are geographical concentrations of 
poverty in particular areas: 

• Deprivation – Overall Cambridge has the third lowest levels of deprivation of 
all cities in England. However, there are concentrations of poverty in particular 
neighbourhoods in Cambridge. The 2019 Indices of Deprivation showed that 
there were 3 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in Cambridge which were 
ranked in 20% most deprived areas in England. These neighbourhoods were in 
Abbey and Kings Hedges wards8. Figure 1 in below shows the location of the 
10 lowest ranked LSOAs in Cambridge. 

Figure 1 - Ten Lowest Ranked LSOAs in Cambridge in the IMD 2019 

Ward City 
Rank 
2019 

IMD 
Rank 
2019 

IMD 
Decile 
2019 

Abbey 1 4,183 2 

Abbey 2 5,217 2 

Kings Hedges 3 6,022 2 

Kings Hedges 4 7,654 3 

Arbury 5 7,687 3 

Kings Hedges 6 7,866 3 

Kings Hedges 7 7,961 3 

Abbey 8 8,504 3 

East Chesterton 9 9,347 3 

West Chesterton 10 12,107 4 
Source: Cambridge City Council, IMD 2019 report 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12280/indices-
of-multiple-deprivation-2019-report.pdf 

• Benefts – The Council’s Low Income Family Tracker (LIFT) system shows 
that there were 12,583 people living in households claiming benefts (Housing 
Beneft, Council Tax Reduction and/or Universal Credit) in Cambridge in 
October 2022. This represents 9% of the city’s population. 

• As Figure 2 below shows, Abbey (16.3%), Kings Hedges (16.2%) East 
Chesterton (14.1%) and Arbury (13.6%) have the largest numbers of people 
living in households that are receiving benefts. However, the data also 
shows there are people living in beneft households across the city, and 
there are pockets of low income and poverty in otherwise afuent areas 
of the city. 

Figure 2: People living in households claiming benefts by 
2022 

2017 
ward in 2013, 2017 and 2022 

2013 

B
E

N
E

FI
T

 P
O

P
U

L
A

T
IO

N
 

1,
3

2
1

1,
3

4
0

1,
4

9
6

1,
6

8
5

1,
9

0
8

2
,0

18
 

3
2

4
2

8
3

3
0

4
 

9
0

6 1.
15

4
1,

12
9

9
2

5 1,
0

79
1,

0
9

3

1,
3

6
8 1,
5

5
7

1,
76

5

1,
6

73 1,
8

71
1,

9
6

0
 

2
0

7
2

6
6

2
8

5
 

70 9
7

11
1 

78
2

5
6

6
6

6
3

6
0

5
6

12
6

3
2

6
5

6
74

0 8
0

0
 

1,
3

8
6

1,
75

9
1,

0
8

2
 

2
0

7 4
6

0
5

2
2

 

WARD 

Source: Cambridge City Council, 2022, Mapping Poverty report https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/mapping-poverty 

Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 7  

P
age 21

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12280/indices-of-multiple-deprivation-2019-report.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12280/indices-of-multiple-deprivation-2019-report.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/mapping-poverty


 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

3.0 The Need for Change (continued) 
• Child poverty - An estimated 1 in 10 children across Cambridge and the 

City Fringe resided in relative poverty during 2021/22, which is the lowest 
rate of 58 cities in England and Wales. However, this fgure rises to 2 in 10 
children in Kings Hedges, which is equivalent to the rate in benchmark cities. 
East Barnwell & Abbey, East Chesterton, Coleridge and Cherry Hinton also 
experienced rates above the Cambridge (City & Fringe) average9. 

• Cost of living and food poverty - The cost of living has risen dramatically 
in Cambridge, accompanied by an increasing reliance on food banks and 
charitable crisis support. 13,121 food parcels were distributed by food banks to 
residents in Cambridge in 2022/23, a large increase on the previous record of 
9,467 distributed in 2020/2110. 

• Fuel poverty - 1 in 10 households (11.5%) in Cambridge were estimated to 
be fuel poor in 202111. This citywide rate was below the average for cities in 
England and Wales (13.0%), but there is signifcant variation across Cambridge 
wards. The highest rate was in Petersfeld (14.4%), due to the predominance 
of older, less energy efcient properties in the ward. It is likely that increases 
in energy costs over the past 2 years will have increased fuel poverty rates 
further. 

 13,121 food 
parcels were 

distributed by food 
banks to residents 
in Cambridge in 

2022/23 

• Housing afordability – the overall prosperity of Cambridge means that 
many people experience higher living costs, increased house prices and a 
lack of afordable housing. In June 2023, the average sale price for a home 
in Cambridge stood at £565,000, which was signifcantly higher than the 
average for England as a whole of £374,00012. Buying a house in Cambridge is 
particularly unafordable for many low earners in Cambridge. Lower-quartile 
house prices were 12.9 times lower-quartile annual earnings in June 202313. 

• Accessing afordable rented accommodation in Cambridge can be 
a particular challenge for low-paid workers in Cambridge, with the 
average lower-quartile property costing £1,050 per month to rent from 
April 2022-March 202314. For those on Universal Credit, Local Housing 
Allowances are not sufcient to cover even lower quartile rents on any 
size of home. 

• Regional data also shows that homes in the private rented sector are more 
likely to be of poor quality than other tenures. In the East of England, 16.8% 
of private rented dwellings are estimated to fail the Decent Homes Standard, 
which is a much higher proportion than socially rented or owner-occupied 
homes15. 

Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 8  

P
age 22



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.0 The Need for Change (continued) 

3.3  Inequality in Cambridge 
While many residents beneft from Cambridge’s prosperity, there is signifcant 
inequality in the city, with the 2023 State of the City report showing: 

• Income inequality - Experimental data recently made available by the ONS 
shows that the gap between the lowest and highest income residents in 
Cambridge is the 2nd largest of 58 cities in England and Wales, behind only 
Oxford (although data is sensitive to the large student populations in both 
cities)16. In 2017/18 incomes at the 80th percentile were 4.2 times higher than 
incomes at the 20th percentile. 

• Educational attainment inequalities - Educational attainment in Cambridge 
is above benchmarks overall, but there are signifcant inequalities. During 
the 2021/22 academic year, 76% of pupils aged 16 attending Cambridge City 
schools achieved grades 4 or above in English and maths at GCSE. This placed 
Cambridge pupils as the 4th highest achieving out of 55 cities in England. 
However, for Cambridge pupils receiving free school meals (FSM), this 
proportion dropped to 45%, which was below the national FSM pupil average 
(47%)17. 

• Skills inequalities – Overall Cambridge has a highly skilled population. During 
2021, a record 81% of working age (aged 16-64) Cambridge (City & Fringe) 
residents were educated to NVQ Level 3 or above, second only to Oxford out 
of 58 cities in England and Wales. Meanwhile, in the localities of Kings Hedges 
and East Barnwell & Abbey almost 3 in 10 residents were low or unskilled. 

• Unemployment and low income – While unemployment is low in Cambridge 
overall, residents in Cambridge’s more deprived neighbourhoods (East 
Barnwell & Abbey, Kings Hedges, East Chesterton and Arbury) are more likely 
to be unemployed or on low incomes. 

Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

• Social mobility – As a result of these education, skills and employment issues 
Cambridge has a low level of social mobility. In 2016 Cambridge ranked 
275th out of 324 local authorities across England and Wales in the Social 
Mobility Index. Outcomes are particularly poor for young people from poorer 
backgrounds in the city, with Cambridge having the ffth lowest score of any 
local authority for youth social mobility18. 

• Health inequalities – There are inequalities in physical health outcomes in 
Cambridge, which are refected in the 12-year life expectancy gap between 
the most deprived area (Kings Hedges) and least deprived area (Eddington and 
Castle) in the city. This gap is the 6th largest out of 55 cities in England. 

• There are also signifcant disparities in mental health outcomes, which 
impact on residents wellbeing and contribute to economic disadvantage. 
23% of Cambridge adults reported high levels of anxiety over 2020-2219. 
Research by ONS suggests that young people’s mental health is an area 
where Cambridge underperforms20. 

9  

P
age 23



 

 

 

  

 
 

 
 

 The Need for Change (continued) 

23% of 
Cambridge 

adults reported 
high levels of 
anxiety over 
2020-2219 

3.0 

• Equality of opportunity - While there are a high number of job opportunities 
and vacancies in Cambridge, there are barriers that can make it harder 
for some groups of people to access employment. In 2022 residents in 
Cambridge (City and Fringe area) with a core or work-limiting disability were 
18% less likely to be in employment than the rest of the population21. Women 
(14% less likely), minority ethnic people (5% less likely), and low and unskilled 
residents (7%) were also less likely to be in employment than the rest of the 
population. 

• Local and national data and research shows that people with some 
protected characteristics can experience other barriers that make it more 
likely for them to experience poverty or lower incomes, including increased 
costs, lower pay, higher rates of beneft claimants and discrimination. This 
evidence is summarised in Appendix C. 

• Lived experience – Engagement with local communities and voluntary and 
community organisations has highlighted that residents on low incomes 
and in poverty experience particular challenges associated with living in an 
otherwise wealthy city. This can range from lack of access to lower cost shops 
and services to feeling excluded from the city centre or major employment 
areas. 

• Climate change and sustainability – The Council’s Climate Change Strategy 
recognises that it is important to support vulnerable people and people on 
low incomes to reduce risks posed by climate change, including overheating, 
drought and fooding, as they are likely to be most afected22. The UK Climate 
Change Committee suggests that is essential that there is a fair and just 
transition to a low carbon future. This means that vulnerable people 
will need to be supported to meet the costs of the transition, 
and that employees in existing carbon intensive industries 
will need to be supported to develop skills needed in new 
low carbon industries23. 

10 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 24

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/climate-change-strategy


 
 
 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 

  

4.0 One Cambridge – Fair for All 

Combining our ongoing 
eforts to address the efects 

of poverty, with a further focus 

1 

4.1  Cambridge City Council’s vision 
The Council’s vision for Cambridge24 is ‘One Cambridge - Fair for All’. 
It recognises the need for “a united city… in which economic dynamism and 
prosperity are combined with social equality and environmental justice.” 

This includes supporting “an entrepreneurial city with a thriving local economy” 
and “prioritising tackling the root causes of poverty and social exclusion, 
recognising that greater social and economic equality are the most important 
preconditions for the city’s success”. Tackling poverty and inequality and 
helping people in greatest need is one of the four priorities set out in the 
Council’s Corporate Plan 2022-2724. 

4.2 Previous Anti-Poverty strategies 
To help achieve this vision, the Council has produced three previous 
Anti-Poverty Strategies (APS) over a 10-year period from 2014 to 2024. 
These strategies focussed on improving the standard of living and daily 
lives of residents in Cambridge who are experiencing poverty; and helping 
to alleviate issues that can lead households on low incomes to experience 
fnancial pressures. Examples of some of the activities delivered as part of 
the APS are provided in Appendix D. 

Over the 10 years of the APS, there has been a gradual evolution in the 
Council’s approach to tackling poverty, expanding from an initial emphasis 
on addressing the symptoms of poverty (by supporting people in immediate 
fnancial need) to tackling the longer-term causes of poverty alongside this. 
There has also been an increasing emphasis on partnership working and 
infuencing activity, as well as direct Council service delivery. 

The most recent APS (for 2020-2024) set out three 
underpinning themes for the Council’s approach: 

Building the 

3 

Balancing direct 
Council service delivery, 

with partnership-working 
and infuencing and 

lobbying activity where 
this will have 

greater impact. 

2 

on preventative work 
(often in partnership with 

other organisations) to 
address some of the root 

causes of poverty. 

capacity and resilience 
of residents and 

communities and 
facilitating community 

action. 

In addition to maximising incomes, strengthening communities and addressing 
housing afordability and health inequalities, through the most recent Anti-
Poverty Strategy, the Council sought to promote a more inclusive economy, 
where all residents can beneft from Cambridge’s prosperity. The strategy 
included a range of partnership projects aimed at raising skills and improving 
access to a range of employment opportunities for people on low incomes. 

This Community Wealth Building strategy represents a further evolution of 
the Council’s approach to reducing poverty and inequality in Cambridge and 
supporting an inclusive and sustainable economy. It will replace the Anti-
Poverty Strategy from April 2024 onwards. 

11 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 25



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

4.0 One Cambridge – Fair for All (continued) 

4.3  The Community Wealth Building approach 
Community Wealth Building is a concept frst developed in the US in the early 
2000s by the Democracy Collaborative. The concept has since been pioneered 
and developed in the UK by the Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES) as, 
“a people-centred approach to local economic development, which increases 
the fow, circulation and ownership of wealth back into the local economy, 
and places control and benefts into the hands of local people”26. At the heart 
of community wealth building is the principle that wealth should be more fairly 
owned and shared within the local economy. 

CLES has worked with a range of organisations including local authorities, 
combined authorities and a number of NHS organisations across the UK and 
Ireland to develop Community Wealth Building approaches. This includes large 
cities such as Birmingham, Manchester and Leeds; towns such as Preston, 
Wigan and Luton; and London boroughs such as Islington and Newham. 

This strategy builds on the learning and experience of the cities that have 
already developed approaches to Community Wealth Building. While the 
approach taken by each area has refected their particular local context, 
the key levers that these cities have used include: 

• Spend and procurement – including embedding social value in all aspects 
of spending, for example through procurement policies to help local SMEs, 
employee-owned businesses, social enterprises, cooperatives and other forms 
of community owned enterprises to access the Council’s supply chain in line 
with the UK’s Procurement Act27. This can help ensure that public spending is 
retained within the local economy, as these types of businesses are more likely 
to support local employment and have a greater propensity to retain wealth 
and surplus locally. 

• Workforce and employment - Promoting the Living Wage and fair 
employment practices to local anchor institutions and major businesses. 
The way that these  organisations recruit, employ and pay staf can have a 
defning efect on the employment prospects and incomes of local people. 

12 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

• Buildings, Land and Assets - Maximising the social benefts from Council and 
NHS buildings and assets for local communities, including community space 
and afordable housing. 

• Finance and investment – Maximising the fow of wealth into communities, 
including public funding and investment and the community benefts from 
inward investment and planning. 

• Business support - Supporting the growth of the local economy by providing 
support for local businesses, social enterprises, cooperatives and other forms 
of community owned enterprises access. 

P
age 26



 

 

 

 

 

   

     
 

    

     

   

 
 

 

 

4.0 One Cambridge – Fair for All (continued) 

4.4  Defning wealth for Cambridge: The Wealth 
Economy framework and the Six Capitals 
As well as increasing incomes, sharing fnancial wealth and boosting 
community economic potential, our approach also focuses on building other 
non-fnancial forms of community wealth. Our approach aims to ensure that 
as well as economic prosperity and success, Cambridge ofers opportunities 
and a high quality of life for all its residents.  

As a framework for this strategy, we have also drawn on the work of the Bennett 
Institute at the University of Cambridge in relation to the Wealth Economy28. 
This approach recognises that sustainable prosperity requires more than 
achieving traditional measures of economic success, such as increasing 
Gross Domestic Product (GDP) or Gross Value Added (GVA). 

For people experiencing poverty, access to fnancial assets is often the most 
immediate priority. However, most people would defne prosperity as more 
than access to fnancial assets, and would include other assets such as their 
skills, access to opportunities, healthcare, justice and security. 

The Wealth Economy concept identifes six capitals that are needed for 
economic success and sustainable prosperity. To build community wealth, 
it is important for local communities to be able to access these capitals. 

The Six Capitals are: 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

Human capital - the skills and the physical and mental health of local people 

Social capital – the glue that holds society together. This includes 
personal contacts, relationships and networks, trust, social norms 
and values, and community cohesiveness. 

Knowledge capital - such as access to ideas, intellectual property and data 

Physical capital - including access to homes, transport, infrastructure, 
and new technology. 

Natural capital – access to natural assets and resources. Natural assets 
such as climate, forests, rivers and oceans, fertile soils and open space 
generate a fow of goods and services (e.g. food, water, leisure activities) 
that humans beneft from, but access to these resources can be unevenly 
shared between people and communities, and these assets can be 
overexploited. 

6 Institutional capital – including the quality and reliability of local 
institutions and governance. Cambridge has very strong institutions, 
including its Universities and Colleges, major businesses, and public 
sector organisations, so there is scope to harness this institutional 
capacity to build community wealth. 

We will take a broad defnition of community ‘wealth’, that addresses economic inequality alongside other forms of wealth, including human, social, 
knowledge, physical, natural and institutional ‘capital’29. Our approach recognises that all these forms of capital are needed to tackle poverty and create 
sustainable prosperity in Cambridge.  

This broad interpretation of the concept of wealth has also informed existing development frameworks, such as the UN Sustainable Development Goals 
and is shared by proponents of models such as Doughnut Economics and the Foundational Economy. 

The six capitals have also been used as a framework for strategies at a sub-regional level (e.g. the CPCA Economic Growth Strategy) and a national level 
(e.g. national Government’s Levelling Up White Paper).  In this context, the City Council’s “State of the City” report and dashboard use a ‘six lenses’ approach 
which broadly refects this thinking. 

13 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 27



 

 

  

  
 

 

 

5.0 Building Community Wealth in Cambridge 

5.1    Community Wealth Building approach 
This strategy sets out the Council’s high-level approach to Community Wealth 
Building in Cambridge. There are four key themes to this approach: 

• Using the Council’s assets, resources and powers to help build 
community wealth. 

• Building an inclusive and sustainable local economy. 

• Empowering communities 

• Working with anchor and community 
organisations to develop 
whole-system approaches. 

5.2  Theme 1 - Using the Council’s resources, 
assets and powers to build community wealth 
The Council can most directly infuence poverty and inequality in Cambridge 
through the services that it provides; its workforce strategy; its spend on goods 
and services; fnance (including grants, commissioning, investment and section 
106 contributions from developers); the buildings, land and assets that it owns 
and runs; and its regulatory functions. 

As part of the Council’s Community Wealth Building approach, we will use 
these resources, assets and powers of the Council to help build community 
wealth. This work will develop over time, but will include: 

• Spend and procurement - Using the Council’s spending power and 
encouraging partners to use their spend to build community wealth. We 
will explore opportunities to secure greater social value as part of Council 
contracts, including through collaborative approaches. This could include 
developing a social value framework. 

• Workforce and employment - Modelling good business and employment 
practices and developing human and knowledge capital in the Council’s 
workforce. The Council has paid the Real Living Wage to all directly employed 
staf and contracted staf since 2014. During 2024 we will be developing 
a new People and Culture Strategy, which will help to further embed 
good employment practices across the organisation. This could include 
a volunteering programme to support staf to use their skills to help build 
capacity in the community and voluntary sector. 

14  Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 28



 

 

 

  

 

 5.0 Building Community Wealth in Cambridge (continued) 

• Finance and investment - Using the Council’s funding mechanisms and 
investment powers (including grant funding, commissioning, social impact 
investment, section 106 funding) to support activity which tackles poverty 
and inequality and promotes a more inclusive and sustainable economy. 
This includes activity focused on building social, human and natural capital, 
empowering communities and creating a sustainable community and 
voluntary sector. 

Where possible, we will work with partners to align funding priorities and 
processes to support the local community, voluntary and social enterprise 
sectors, including through place-based partnerships such as the ICS and 
the Cambridgeshire South Care partnerships. 

• Buildings, Land and Assets – The Council already provides free or afordable 
access for low-income residents and communities to physical capital, 
such as a number of community centres, leisure centres and other facilities 
across Cambridge. The Council is using its land assets to build new Council 
homes, and we are also working with partners to redevelop land assets to 
provide improved community facilities, for example through the proposed 
regeneration of the central area of East Barnwell. 

In future, we will consider opportunities for further community management 
or ownership of some of our buildings through community asset transfer. The 
Council will also consider how policies in the developing Greater Cambridge 
Local Plan can help build community wealth, such as through support for 
the ‘meanwhile’ use of vacant or under-utilised land that is earmarked for 
development for community beneft. 

Three detailed case studies of current projects and initiatives are provided 
in Appendix E to illustrate how the Council will use its resources, assets and 
powers to build community wealth: 

• Community Grants Review (building human and social capital) 

• Greater Cambridge Social Impact Fund (building fnancial, human and 
social capital) 

• East Barnwell Regeneration project (building physical and natural capital) 

15 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

5.3  Theme 2 - Building an inclusive and 
sustainable local economy 
As described in section 3.1 above, Cambridge is a very prosperous city overall 
with a strong and growing economy, but the benefts of this are not being 
felt by all Cambridge residents, with a signifcant proportion of residents 
experiencing poverty and deprivation, and persistent inequalities in education, 
skills, employment, housing and environmental outcomes. 

Cambridge has signifcant institutional and knowledge capital, through its 
universities and colleges, major businesses, and public sector partners. As part 
of the community wealth building strategy, the Council will seek to work with 
these institutions to promote a more inclusive economy, where all residents 
can beneft from Cambridge’s prosperity. The OECD defnes inclusive economic 
growth as: “economic growth that creates opportunity for all segments of 
the population and distributes the dividends of increased prosperity, both in 
monetary and non-monetary terms, fairly across society.” 

P
age 29



 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

5.0 Building Community Wealth in Cambridge (continued) 

Feedback from successful entrepreneurs and businesses in Cambridge 
suggests that they want to live in a more equal and sustainable city, and that 
this is a key condition for attracting the investment and talent needed to 
maintain the success of the local economy. Employers can contribute directly 
to improved outcomes for local residents through adopting positive business 
practices such as: 

• progressive procurement and supply chain management. 

• paying the Real Living Wage. 

• good employment conditions. 

• fair recruitment practices, including addressing barriers experienced by 
people with protected characteristics and people who live in disadvantaged 
areas of Cambridge. 

• supporting staf to volunteer with local community and voluntary 
organisations. 

• increasing community access to physical capital such as buildings, facilities 
and land, including on a permanent basis or through meanwhile spaces in 
unused buildings or land30. 

• engaging with local schools and education providers. 

• providing local employment, apprenticeships and skills and training 
programmes. 

• promoting equality, diversity and inclusion; and 

• taking climate and environmental action. 

There are a number of existing charters that Cambridge businesses and 
employers can sign to demonstrate some of these commitments, including: 

• the Equality Pledge 

• the Climate Change Charter 

• the Innovate Cambridge Charter, which includes a focus on 
inclusive growth and sustainability. 

16 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

This work will develop over time, but building a more inclusive and sustainable 
local economy will include: 

• Working with local and sub-regional partners (including Cambridgeshire 
County Council, the Greater Cambridge Partnership and Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined Authority) and social enterprises that are expert in 
the feld to build human capital and address inequalities in educational, skills 
and employment outcomes in Cambridge. This includes developing learning, 
skills and employment support pathways that will open up access to higher 
paid employment to residents from more disadvantaged backgrounds. 

• Identifying and working with anchor institutions in the Cambridge economy, 
such as the universities, local authorities and hospitals, to encourage and 
normalise good local business practices (such as those outlined above) and 
facilitate partnership action to tackle inequalities. 

• Supporting larger businesses to take action, including adopting positive 
business practices and investing in local initiatives through the Greater 
Cambridge Social Impact Fund or their Environmental Social and Governance 
(ESG) programmes. 

P
age 30

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/equality-pledge
https://cambridgecarbonfootprint.org/charter/
https://www.innovatecambridge.com/media/3844/innovate_cambridge_charter_dec-2022.pdf


 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 
 

5.0 Building Community Wealth in Cambridge (continued) 

• Supporting a vibrant local economy. If local SMEs are supported to grow and 
thrive, this may help retain wealth in the local economy, as local entrepreneurs 
and business owners may be more likely to spend or invest business profts 
within the local economy. 

• Supporting the growth of social enterprises, community-owned businesses 
and cooperatives, which are able to invest their income into building local 
community wealth. 

• Working with the community of businesses and their employees who wish to 
contribute to a more equal and sustainable city. These companies and their 
workforces can contribute signifcant human and knowledge capital to help 
address the challenges facing the city, including poverty and inequality. 

• Working with Innovate Cambridge on establishing the Innovate Cambridge 
Pledge as a route for successful entrepreneurs to contribute to addressing 
inequality in the city by investing in the Greater Cambridge Social Impact Fund 

Four detailed case studies of current projects and initiatives are provided in 
Appendix D to illustrate how the Council will help build and inclusive and 
sustainable economy: 

• Greater Cambridge Local Plan (building human and physical capital) 

• Region of Learning programme (building human capital) 

• Grow Your Business programme (building human and 
knowledge capital) 

• Green Business programme (building physical, knowledge 
and natural capital) 

17 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

5.4  Theme 3 – Empowering residents and 
communities 
The Council’s approach to Community Wealth Building will focus on 
empowering residents and communities. 

At an individual level, the Council will work with local partners to give individual 
residents on lower incomes increased ‘agency’ and greater control over their 
lives. This could include a greater sense of control over their working life (for 
example guaranteed hours rather than a zero hours contract), greater housing 
security, access to good quality childcare, or access to education and training. 

At a community level, we will adopt an asset-based approach to empowering 
disadvantaged communities, focussing on the strengths and potential that 
already exist within these communities. Work to address poverty and 
inequality often starts from a ‘defcit’ model, focussing on what people 
and communities lack. 

P
age 31



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 
 
 

5.0 Building Community Wealth in Cambridge (continued) 

The term community power recognises that communities have a range of 
knowledge, skills and assets which mean they themselves are well placed to 
identify and respond to any challenges that they face31. New Local identify 
three main forms of community power32, all of which form part of the Council’s 
Community Wealth Building approach: 

1. Community decision-making: the Council will explore opportunities to 
involve citizens more meaningfully in informing local decision-making, 
including through the current review of its governance and decision-making 
arrangements. 

2. Collaboration with communities: The Council will work collaboratively and 
cooperatively with local residents and voluntary and community groups to 
identify community-owned and community-led solutions. This approach 
will build on the experience of our Anti-Poverty Strategies and the 
community-led response to Covid and the cost-of-living crisis, where 
the Council played a facilitating role and communities across the city 
collaborated and supported each other through mutual aid. 

3. Building community capacity and assets: The Council will support 
communities to build the human capital they need to participate in local 
action and build local economic solutions. 

We will work collaboratively with our communities to build social capital 
including ‘bonding social capital’ (which relates to connections within a 
community), ‘bridging social capital’ (which can help make connections 
between diferent communities and networks) and ‘linking social capital’33 

(which relates to connections between people or groups with diferent levels 
of power or authority). To build community wealth it will be necessary to build 
all three forms of social capital, to strengthen local communities and to build 
connections between more disadvantaged communities, local institutions and 
growth sectors of the economy. 

Two detailed case studies of current projects and initiatives are provided in 
Appendix D to illustrate how the Council will help empower communities: 

• Social supermarkets (building human and social capital) 

• How to Crack on With It climate change awareness course (building human, 
knowledge and natural capital) 

5.5  Theme 4 - Supporting whole-system 
approaches 
In addition to ongoing work to address the efects of poverty, the Anti-Poverty 
Strategy has also identifed the need for preventative approaches to address 
the root causes of poverty identifed by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation34 

including: 

• low pay, insecure jobs and unemployment 

• lack of skills 

• an inefective benefts system 

• high costs, including housing 

• family problems 

• other factors, including mental health issues, domestic violence 
and abuse, or involvement in the criminal justice system 

The Council does not have all the levers needed to build Community Wealth 
in isolation. As shown in fgure 3 below, the Council has diferent spheres of 
infuence, ranging from areas where it has the most control (e.g. direct Council 
service delivery, procurement policies, grant priorities), through collaborative 
working with communities and local partners, to areas where the Council has 
much less infuence such as national Government fscal, welfare and economic 
policy. The Council will need to be active within all of these ‘spheres of 
infuence’ to build community wealth. 

To bring about change we need to work collaboratively with communities and 
partners and develop approaches across the whole local system. We will seek 
to work together across organisational boundaries to create solutions to the 
long-term causes of poverty and inequality and deliver the outcomes set out 
in Appendix B. This approach is consistent with the Council’s “Partnership By 
Default” principles. 

18 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 32

https://www.newlocal.org.uk/publications/community-power-the-evidence/


 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

 

  
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 

 

  

  

 

5.0 Building Community Wealth in Cambridge (continued) 

The Council’s Sphere of Infuence 
1. Council workforce and employment policies and practice 

The Council has direct control over its employment policies 
and practice, such as paying its staf the Real Living Wage. 

2. Council service delivery 
The Council has direct control over the services that it provides 
and how these are delivered. 

3. Council buildings, land and assets 
The Council has direct control over how its buildings, land 
and assets are used and managed. 

4. Council spending and procurement 
When it procures new services from private contractors, the 
Council can require its contractors to take to steps, such as 
providing Social Value. 

5. Council regulatory powers 
The Council can use its regulatory powers, such as its planning 
policies, to help build community wealth. 

6. Council funding, fnance and investment 
The Council sets the overall priorities for grant funding that it 
provides, such as the Community Grants and Homelessness 
Prevention Grants, but voluntary and community organisations 
submit applications for specifc activities. 

7. Empowering and collaborating with residents and communities 
The Council can support and empower local residents and 
voluntary and community groups to identify community-owned 
and community-led solutions 

8. Working collaboratively with partners, including businesses, 
anchor institutions and other stakeholders 
The Council can infuence partners (including businesses, anchor 
institutions and other stakeholders) and it can work collaboratively 
with them to develop whole-system solutions, but it has no direct 
control over their decisions or activities. 

19 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

9. Infuencing Government policy 
The Council can infuence Government policy, but it has no direct control. 

10. Responding to national and international economic changes 
The Council has no control over national and international economic 
trends that impact on poverty, such as automation, of-shoring and 
imports replacing low-skilled jobs 

Figure 3 – The Council’s spheres of infuence in relation to poverty 

Council w
o

rk
fo

rce
andemploymentpolic

ie
s 

an
d

pr
ac

tic
e 

Council service
d

elivery 

Council buildings, lan
d

 an
d

assets 

Council spending
and

p
ro

cu
rem

en
t 

Council regulatory
pow

ers 

Council funding, finance
and

in
vestm

en
t 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

The Council’s 
Sphere of 
Influence 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Empowering and collaborating
w

ith
resid

en
ts an

d
 co

m
m

u
n

ities 

Working collaboratively w
ith

partners, in
clu

d
in

g
 b

u
sin

esses,an
ch

o
r

in
stitutionsand

otherstakeholders 

Influencing Government policy 

Responding to national and
international eco

n
o

m
ic

ch
an

g
es 

P
age 33



 

 

 

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

  

  

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 

  
  

  

  
  

   
  

  
  

5.0 Building Community Wealth in Cambridge (continued) 

Through engagement with stakeholders as part of the development of the 
strategy, we have identifed that the Council’s Community Wealth-Building 
approach broadly aligns with the priorities of key strategic stakeholders and 
partnerships. We will build on this alignment to develop joint approaches and 
solutions. Examples of alignment include: 

• Cambridgeshire County Council – The County Council’s vision includes 
commitments to: establish the principles and practice of Community Wealth 
Building to enable the economic system to build wealth and prosperity for 
everyone; enable communities to work creatively and collaboratively to 
address their local needs; and deliver practical localised and evidence-led 
actions that improve social mobility, reduce poverty and address inequalities35. 

• Cambridge and Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) – The CPCA 
Economic Growth Strategy focuses on “good growth”, including reducing 
inequality and investing in quality of life and the environment, alongside 
raising productivity and GVA and creating jobs and higher wages36. The vision 
and priorities outlined in the strategy are based on the Six Capitals.  

• Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Integrated Care System (ICS) – The ICS 
is a partnership that brings together a range of partners including the NHS, 
local councils, voluntary and community organisations, and other health and 
care organisations to improve the health and wellbeing of local people. The 
Council’s CWB approach aligns with the four priorities of the ICS set out in 
the Integrated Care Strategy, and the Council is working closely with the ICS 
on a range of strategic and operational initiatives, such as the Focus on Abbey 
project, cost of living support 
and bids for Government funding. 

Two detailed case studies of current projects and initiatives are provided in 
Appendix D to illustrate how the Council will help develop a system-wide 
approach: 

• Focus on Abbey project (building human, social and physical capital) 

• Cost of Living crisis support during winter 2022-23 (social and knowledge 
capital) 

20 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

5.6  Key asks of Council groups, anchor 
institutions, businesses and other stakeholders 
To summarise, as part of our Community Wealth Building approach, the Council 
would make the following key asks of local partners: 

1. Spend and procurement – to consider how to maximise social value in 
procurement and to develop local businesses and social enterprises into the 
supply chain. 

2. Workforce and employment – to adopt positive employment practices, 
including a commitment to pay the Real Living Wage, secure employment, 
good development and progression opportunities, recruiting people from local 
communities, and providing high quality training and apprenticeships that meet 
current and future skills gaps. 

3. Finance and investment – to invest in local initiatives to address inequality 
(through the Greater Cambridge Social Impact Fund or company 
Environmental Social and Governance (ESG) programmes) 

4. Buildings, land and assets – to consider opportunities to use or manage 
building and land assets for community beneft, including opening up assets 
to community access or use and to create social value. 

5. Empowering communities – to work with and help empower local 
communities to develop solutions to local problems. 

6. Community and voluntary sector support – to help strengthen local 
community and voluntary organisations by aligning funding opportunities 
with other partners, and supporting skilled volunteering by staf. 

7. Collaborative working – working together as 
partners and stakeholders to address poverty 
and inequality and ensure all residents of 
Cambridge can beneft from the city’s 
prosperity. 

P
age 34

https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/asset-library/Business-Plan-Section-1-Strategic-Framework-2022-23-Updated.pdf
https://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/documents/Strategies/economic-growth-strategy/CPCA-Economic-Growth-Strategy.pdf
https://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/documents/Strategies/economic-growth-strategy/CPCA-Economic-Growth-Strategy.pdf
https://www.cpics.org.uk/our-priorities
https://www.cpics.org.uk/health-wellbeing-integrated-care-strategy


 6.0 Implementation and impact measurement 

6.1 Implementing a Community Wealth 
Building approach 
In order to tackle poverty and inequality and build a more inclusive and 
sustainable economy, the Council will adopt a Community Wealth Building 
approach wherever possible.  

Case study examples have been provided in Appendix E to illustrate the key 
themes of the Community Wealth Building approach, and the Council is already 
adopting the approach in many areas of service delivery. 

To further embed this approach across the Council, groups and teams will 
identify activities that will contribute to community wealth on an annual basis as 
part of the production of their Strategic Delivery Plans (SDPs) and monitor the 
impacts of these activities. The activities in SDPs will include collaborative work 
with a range of partners, including anchor institutions, businesses, public sector 
partners, voluntary groups and local communities. 

6.2 Intermediate outcomes 
We have also identifed some intermediate outcomes which measure the direct 
impacts of some of the key cross-Council and partnership programmes of work 
that we expect to take forward within the Council and in partnership with other 
anchor institutions in Cambridge, including: 

1. Spend and procurement 

2. Workforce and employment 

3. Buildings, land and assets 

4. Finance and investment 

5. Local business growth 

For each of these areas, we have identifed potential measures that we could 
use to measure these impacts in the table at Appendix A. These measures 
will be explored further as part of the implementation of the strategy and will 
subject to the availability of data from Council services and local partners. 

To bring about 
change we need to 
work collaboratively 
with communities 

and partners 

21 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 35



 

 

 

 

6.0 Implementation and impact measurement 

6.3 High-level outcomes 
We have identifed a number of high-level outcomes for the Council’s 
Community Wealth Building approach. These outcomes describe the broad, 
long-term changes that Community Wealth Building can help achieve. These 
outcomes are framed around the Six Capitals and deliberately focused on 
improvements to the lives of residents and communities. The key outcomes 
are set out in the table at Appendix B, but they are not an exhaustive list and we 
may add to them in future. 

These high-level outcomes can be infuenced through Council activity and 
collaborative working with local partners to achieve whole-system approaches. 
They broadly align with the outcomes identifed by key local partners, including 
the Integrated Care System (ICS), Cambridgeshire County Council and the 
CPCA’s Economic Growth Strategy. 

A well-implemented Community Wealth Building approach will ofer a variety of 
tools to empower and strengthen the local economy for the communities here. 
Broader outcomes are likely to be infuenced by wider factors such as national 
government fscal and welfare policies as well as global political, economic and 
environmental events, but community wealth building approaches can help 
to build community capacity and resilience to such national and international 
changes. 

For each of these high-level outcomes, we have identifed key measures, which 
are also set out in the table at Appendix B. These outcome measures are: 

• Mostly tracked in the State of the City report and will be updated annually. 
Some measures are drawn from the Cambridgeshire Quality of Life Survey, 
which will initially be conducted annually for the next three years. 

• Informed by measures of the Six Capitals, as set out in national and regional 
strategies which have used this framework, such as the Levelling Up White 
Paper and the CPCA Economic Growth Strategy. 

• Linked to many of the measures used in section 3 of this strategy to describe 
the current context of economic prosperity and poverty and inequality in 
Cambridge. 

22 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 36



 

 

  
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A – Intermediate outcomes 
Theme Outcome Measure 

Social value achieved through spend by the Council and anchor institutions (measures to be 
identifed in a Social Value framework) 

Spend and 
procurement 

Increased social value from Council and anchor 
institution spend and procurement 

% of suppliers from Council and anchor institution supplier base that are local (including SMEs, 
social enterprises, cooperatives, employee-owned businesses and community-owned businesses) 

% of Council and anchor institution spend with local businesses 

Number of Cambridge residents supported into apprenticeships by anchor institutions 

Workforce and 
employment 

Positive employment practices 
adopted by Council, anchor 
institutions and other employers 

Number of jobs at the Council and in anchor organisations which are recruited directly 
from areas of highest deprivation in Cambridge 

Number of Greater Cambridge employers achieving real Living Wage accreditation 

Finance and Increased investment in disadvantaged people 

Total value of Council and anchor institution funding (including grants, investment, section 
106 contributions etc) that is invested in disadvantaged communities or which supports low 
income residents 

investment 
and communities and support 
for VCS organisations Total value of ESG funding by Cambridge companies to local community and voluntary 

organisations that work to address poverty 

Buildings, Land Increased use of building, land and assets for 

Number of Council and anchor institution assets leased, managed by or transferred to community 
and voluntary organisations 

and Assets community beneft 
Area of under-utilised land that is used for community or local economic beneft 

Local business growth Thriving local businesses 
Number of Small or Medium Enterprises (SMEs), social enterprises, cooperatives and 
employee-owned businesses in Cambridge 

N.B. These measures will be developed further as part of the implementation of the strategy and are subject to the availability of data from Council services and partners. 

23 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 37



 

Appendix B – High-level outcomes 
Theme Outcome Measure Source 

Poverty 

Improved incomes 

Income inequality (measured by the gap between 20th and 80th percentile of pay) SoC 

% of total employees in low pay SoC 

% of people who are unemployed (by ward) SoC 

% of people living in households claiming benefts LIFT, CPCA 

Average disposable income (by ward) SoC 

Improved fnancial circumstances 

% of children living in child poverty SoC 

% of households living in fuel poverty SoC, CPCA 

Number of food parcels distributed annually by local food banks SoC 

Human capital 

Increased skill levels and social mobility 

% of pupils aged 16 achieving grades 4 or above in English and Maths at GCSE 
(pupils eligible for Free School Meals and Pupils not eligible for Free School Meals) 

SoC 

% of people aged 19 achieving a level 3 qualifcation (pupils eligible for Free School 
Meals and Pupils not eligible for Free School Meals) 

SoC 

% of working age population (aged 16 to 64) that are low-skilled 
or unskilled (by ward) 

SoC 

% of working age population (aged 16 to 64) with level 3+ qualifcations 
SoC, LUWP, 
CPCA 

Improved health and wellbeing 

Gap in life expectancy at birth (in years) between the most and least deprived 
wards in Cambridge 

SoC 

Overweight and obesity prevalence LUWP 

% of people that have struggled with their mental health in the last year QoL 

% of residents reporting high or very high levels of wellbeing SoC 

24  Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 38



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Appendix B – High-level outcomes 
Theme Outcome Measure Source 

Social capital 
Improved social connectedness (within and be-
tween communities) 

% of people that feel that they belong to their local area QoL, LUWP 

% of people who would say that many people in their neighbourhood can 
be trusted 

CLS 

% of people that feel that in their local community people from diferent 
backgrounds  get on well together 

QoL, CLS 
LUWP 

% of people who have participated in formal volunteering at least once in the 
past 12 months 

CLS 

% of people who agree people in the neighbourhood pull together to improve 
the local area 

CLS 

Knowledge capital 
Increased access to ideas, intellectual property 
and data 

% of workforce employed in high-skilled employment 
SoC, LUWP, 
CPCA 

% of workforce employed in research and development intensive industries SoC 

Natural capital Improved access to natural resources 

Greenhouse gas emissions intensity (tCO2e per £million GVA) SoC 

Air pollution by ward (PM2.5 concentrations) SoC 

Access to local greenspace by ward SoC 

Physical capital 
Increased access to afordable, good quality 
housing and sustainable transport 

Lower quartile housing afordability ratio (owner-occupiers) 
SoC, LUWP, 
CPCA 

Lower quartile housing afordability ratio (private rental) SoC 

% of people with problems with their house QoL 

Number of households that are homeless or threatened with homelessness SoC, LUWP 

Average minimum travel time to essential services by walking or public transport 
(by ward) 

SoC, LUWP 

Institutional capital Greater institutional engagement 

% of adults who agree they can infuence decisions afecting their local area QoL, LUWP 

% of respondents taking part in civic participation at least once in the 12 
months prior 

CLS 

SoC = State of the City measures  QoL = Cambridgeshire Quality of Life Survey questions  LUWP = Levelling Up White paper measures  CPCA = CPCA Economic Growth Strategy measures     
ONS = ONS Social Capital measures CLS = DCMS Community Life Survey 

25 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 39



 

 

 

 
 

 

Appendix C - Evidence of poverty afecting people with 
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 
Characteristic Evidence 

Age Older people are more likely to be living in households receiving benefts than the population as a whole. Almost 15% of pensioners in Cambridge were living 
in a household claiming Housing Beneft and/or Council Tax support in 2022, compared to 9% of all Cambridge residents37 . 

Almost one in fve (19%) of all children Cambridge in 2022 were living in households that are claiming Housing Beneft and/or Council Tax Support38 . 

An estimated 1 in 10 children across Cambridge and the City Fringe resided in relative poverty during 2021/22, which is the lowest relative child poverty rate 
of 58 cities in England and Wales. However, this fgure rises to 2 in 10 children in Kings Hedges, which is equivalent to the rate in benchmark cities39 . 

There is an educational attainment gap in Cambridge, which impacts on longer term life chances for young people from low-income households. During the 
2021/22 academic year, 76% of pupils aged 16 attending Cambridge schools achieved grades 4 or above in English and Maths at GCSE. For Cambridge pupils 
receiving free school meals (FSM), this proportion dropped to 45%40 . 

Cambridge has a low level of social mobility. In 2016 Cambridge ranked 275th out of 324 local authorities across England and Wales in the Social Mobility Index. 
Outcomes are particularly poor for young people, with Cambridge having the ffth lowest score of any local authority for youth social mobility41 . 

Disability In 2022 residents in Cambridge (City and Fringe area) with a core or work-limiting disability were 18% less likely to be in employment than the rest of the 
population42. National evidence and feedback from local stakeholders suggests that disabled people can experience barriers to employment, including 
discrimination and prejudice, inaccessibility of buildings, and lack of reasonable adjustments. 

National evidence shows that in 2022/23, disabled households (with at least one disabled adult or child) needed £1,122 per month to have the same standard 
of living as non-disabled households. On average, the extra cost of disability is equivalent to 63% of household income after housing costs. Extra costs can 
include mobility aids, adaptations to cars and homes, medicines, therapies, and higher energy usage43 . 

Ethnicity 
In 2022 minority ethnic people in Cambridge (City and Fringe area) were 5% less likely to be in employment than the rest of the population. As part of previous 
consultation on the Anti-Poverty Strategy, stakeholders explained that some ethnic minority people in Cambridge are not able to secure employment due to a 
variety of factors, including discrimination and confdence at interviews, literacy and qualifcation levels, and requirements for recently arrived BAME people to 
prove their qualifcations are valid in this country at their own cost. 

Sexuality LGBTQ+ people are more likely to experience bullying, harassment, hate crime and discrimination, which can impact on mental health and confdence and 
afect  employment and life outcomes. National research by Stonewall44 shows that: 
• In 2018 almost one in fve LGBT people (18%) who were looking for work were discriminated against because of their identity while trying to get a job. 
• In 2018 almost one in fve LGBT people (18 per cent) had experienced homelessness at some point in their lives 
• In 2021 two-thirds (64%) of LGBT people had experienced anti-LGBT violence or abuse. 

26 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 40



 
 

 
 

 Appendix C - Evidence of poverty afecting people with 
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 
Characteristic Evidence 

Sex 
In 2022 women in Cambridge (City and Fringe area) were 14% less likely to be in employment than the rest of the population45 . 

In 2022, women in Cambridge were paid 14% less per week for full-time employment than men. This gap has widened in Cambridge over recent years, 
up from just 3% in 201446. National research links this gender pay gap to childbirth, as women are more likely to work part-time or stop working after 
the birth of a child than men. 

According to national statistics, lone parents are more likely to experience poverty than other household types47 and 90% of lone parents are women48 . 
In Cambridge, Lone parent families are particularly likely to be claiming benefts, with lone parents making up 21.3% of all households claiming Housing 
Beneft and/or Council Tax Support in 202249 . 

27 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 41



 

  

  

  

  

 

 
 

  Appendix D – Examples of activities in previous 
Anti-Poverty Strategies 
• Being an accredited Real Living Wage employer and promoting the Real Living Wage to local businesses and employers. 

• Allocating £1m annually from the Council’s Community Grants to voluntary and community organisations for activities to reduce social and 
economic deprivation. 

• Supporting beneft claimants to receive their full entitlement of Housing Beneft and Council Tax Support, as well as allocating Discretionary 
Housing Payments. 

• Working with Cambridge Sustainable Food, local food hubs and Cambridge City Foodbank to support people in food poverty. 

• Working with Cambridge Online and other partners to support Council tenants, older people and low-income residents to access the 
internet and digital technology. 

• Working with Peterborough Environment City Trust (PECT) to provide energy advice to low-income households. 

• Improving energy efciency in existing Council homes and using grant funding from government to make energy efciency 
improvements to privately-owned homes. 

• Building 500 new Council homes at high energy efciency and sustainability standards, and beginning a programme of a further 
1,000 new Council homes 

• A range of measures to reduce costs for low income households, including providing reduced entry to Council leisure centres, funding for 
swimming lessons, free or low cost sports and physical activity sessions, and free lunches and  activities in parks for families during school holidays. 

More information on the impact of activities taken forward under the Council’s Anti-Poverty Strategy 2020-2023 is available in the 
annual progress reports to Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee, which are published on the Council website: 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/anti-poverty-strategy 

28 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 42

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/anti-poverty-strategy


   
 

   
 

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

  

   

   

   

   

References 
1 Centre for Local Economic Strategies, Community Wealth Building case studies 

https://cles.org.uk/community-wealth-building-in-practice/community-wealth-building-places/community-wealth-building-case-studies/ 

2 Bennett Institute for Public Policy, University of Cambridge, The Wealth Economy 
https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/research/research-projects/wealth-economy-social-and-natural-capital/ 

3 Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City: Cambridge City Portrait 2023, p70 and p34  https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/state-of-the-cityl 

4 Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City: Cambridge City Portrait 2023, p82  https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/state-of-the-cityl 

5 Numbeo Quality of Life Rankings, cited in in Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City report p40 

6 ONS Personal well-being in the UK, in Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City report p40 

7 OHID Public Health Outcomes Framework, cited in Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City report p62 

8 Cambridge City Council, IMD 2019 report, p10 https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12280/indices-of-multiple-deprivation-2019-report.pdf 

9 Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City report, p42. Source: DWP Children in low income families 
Note: relative poverty defnition used here. Absolute poverty fgures are also available from the same release. 

10 Trussell Trust, cited in Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City: Cambridge City Portrait 2023  
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/state-of-the-cityl 

11 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, 2020, Fuel poverty data 

12 Cambridge City Council, 2023, Housing Key Facts: House Prices September 2023 (data up to up to 2023) 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/3dhitgbk/house-sales-kf-report-september-2023.pdf 

13 Cambridge City Council, 2023, Housing Key Facts: House Prices September 2023 (data up to up to 2023) 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/3dhitgbk/house-sales-kf-report-september-2023.pdf 

14 Cambridge City Council, September 2023, Housing Key Facts – Private Rented Housing 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/ubwmmow2/private-rented-housing-key-facts-report-september-2023.pdf 

15 Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, 2023, English Housing Survey 2021-2023: private rented sector  
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-housing-survey-2021-to-2022-private-rented-sector/english-housing-survey-2021-to-
2022-private-rented-sector#:~:text=Homes%20in%20the%20private%20rented,fail%20the%20Decent%20Homes%20Standard. 

29 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 43

https://cles.org.uk/community-wealth-building-in-practice/community-wealth-building-places/community
https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/research/research-projects/wealth-economy-social-and-natural-
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/state-of-the-cityl
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/state-of-the-cityl
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12280/indices-of-multiple-deprivation-2019-report.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12916/state-of-the-city-report-2023.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/state-of-the-cityl
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/3dhitgbk/house-sales-kf-report-september-2023.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/3dhitgbk/house-sales-kf-report-september-2023.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/ubwmmow2/private-rented-housing-key-facts-report-september-2023.p
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-housing-survey-2021-to-2022-private-rented-sector/e
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-housing-survey-2021-to-2022-private-rented-sector/e


  

  

  

   

  

  

   
 

  

  

  

 

    

 

 

 

References 
16 ONS, 2017/18, Admin-based income statistics, data for individuals Note: data is an experimental series. Data for fnancial years 

17 Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City report, p57. Source: DfE Explore education statistics 

18 Social Mobility Commission, 2016, Social Mobility Index https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-
index#:~:text=Documents-,The%20Social%20Mobility%20Index,-PDF%2C%2010 

19 Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City report, Source: ONS Personal well-being in the UK 
Note: data reported here as 2-year averages, due to small sample sizes and year-to-year volatility 

20 Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City report  p63, Source: ONS Health Index 

21 Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City: Cambridge City Portrait 2023, p55-57  https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/state-of-the-cityl 

22 Cambridge City Council, 2021, Climate Change Strategy 2021-2026, p21 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/9581/climate-change-strategy-2021-2026.pdf 

23 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p2 

24 https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/our-vision 

25 https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/corporate-plan-2022-27-our-priorities-for-cambridge 

26 Community wealth building – what is it all about? | Rethinking Poverty) 

27 HM Government 2023, The Procurement Act – a summary guide to the provisions https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-
procurement-bill-summary-guide-to-the-provisions/the-procurement-bill-a-summary-guide-to-the-provisions 

28 Bennett Institute for Public Policy, University of Cambridge, 2019, Wealth Economy Project: Natural and Social Capital Interim Report to LetterOne 
https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/publications/measuring-wealth-delivering-prosperity/ 

29 Bennett Institute for Public Policy, University of Cambridge, The Wealth Economy 
https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/research/research-projects/wealth-economy-social-and-natural-capital/ 

30 Cambridge Ahead Young Advisory Committee, 2-23, Cambridge A City Of Quarters, p20 
https://www.cambridgeahead.co.uk/media/2169/cambridge_-a-city-of-quarters_cambridge-ahead-young-advisory-committee-march-2023.pdf 

31 New Local, 2021, Community Power: The evidence https://www.newlocal.org.uk/publications/community-power-the-evidence/ 

32 New Local, 2021, Community Power: The evidence https://www.newlocal.org.uk/publications/community-power-the-evidence/ 

30 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 44

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12916/state-of-the-city-report-2023.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index#:~:text=Documents-,The%20Social%20M
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index#:~:text=Documents-,The%20Social%20M
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12916/state-of-the-city-report-2023.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12916/state-of-the-city-report-2023.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/state-of-the-cityl
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/9581/climate-change-strategy-2021-2026.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/our-vision
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/corporate-plan-2022-27-our-priorities-for-cambridge
https://www.rethinkingpoverty.org.uk/events/event-reports/community-wealth-building/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-procurement-bill-summary-guide-to-the-provisions/the-
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-procurement-bill-summary-guide-to-the-provisions/the-
https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/publications/measuring-wealth-delivering-prosperity/
https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/research/research-projects/wealth-economy-social-and-natural-
https://www.cambridgeahead.co.uk/media/2169/cambridge_-a-city-of-quarters_cambridge-ahead-young-advi
https://www.newlocal.org.uk/publications/community-power-the-evidence/
https://www.newlocal.org.uk/publications/community-power-the-evidence/


 

 
   

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

References 
33 Social Capital Research, 2018, What Is Linking Social Capital? 
https://www.socialcapitalresearch.com/what-is-linking-social-capital/#:~:text=Linking%20social%20capital%20is%20a%20type%20of%20 
social,or%20institutionalized%20power%20or%20authority%20gradients%20in%20society. 

34 Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2016, UK poverty: Causes, costs and solutions 
https://www.jrf.org.uk/cost-of-living/uk-poverty-causes-costs-and-solutions 

35 Cambridgeshire County Council, 2022, Business Plan, p9 
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/asset-library/Business-Plan-Section-1-Strategic-Framework-2022-23-Updated.pdf 

36 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority, 2022, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Economic Growth Strategy 
https://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/what-we-deliver/research-strategy-2/ 

37 Cambridge City Council, 2022, Housing Beneft and Council Tax support data presented in the Mapping Poverty report 

38 Cambridge City Council, 2022, Housing Beneft and Council Tax support data presented in the Mapping Poverty report 

39 Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City report, p42. Source: DWP Children in low income families 

40 Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City report, p57. Source: DfE Explore education statistics 

41 Social Mobility Commission, 2016, Social Mobility Index 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index#:~:text=Documents-,The%20Social%20Mobility%20Index,-PDF%2C%2010 

42 Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City report, p55-57 

43 Scope, 2023, Disability Price Tag 2023: the extra costs of disability 
https://www.scope.org.uk/campaigns/extra-costs/disability-price-tag-2023/ 

44 Stonewall, LGBTQ+ facts and fgures https://www.stonewall.org.uk/lgbtq-facts-and-fgures 

45 Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City report, p56 

46 Cambridge City Council, 2023, State of the City report, p56 via ONS Employee earnings in the UK 

47 Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2020), ‘UK Poverty 2019/2020’ 

48 ONS (2019), ‘Families and Households’ 

49 Cambridge City Council, 2022, Housing Beneft and Council Tax support data presented in the Mapping Poverty report 

31 Community Wealth Building - Strategy and approach 

P
age 45

https://www.socialcapitalresearch.com/what-is-linking-social-capital/#:~:text=Linking%20social%20cap
https://www.socialcapitalresearch.com/what-is-linking-social-capital/#:~:text=Linking%20social%20cap
https://www.jrf.org.uk/cost-of-living/uk-poverty-causes-costs-and-solutions
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/asset-library/Business-Plan-Section-1-Strategic-Framework-2022-23-
https://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/what-we-deliver/research-strategy-2/
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12279/mapping-poverty-2022.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12279/mapping-poverty-2022.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12916/state-of-the-city-report-2023.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12916/state-of-the-city-report-2023.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index#:~:text=Documents-,The%20Social%20M
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12916/state-of-the-city-report-2023.pdf
https://www.scope.org.uk/campaigns/extra-costs/disability-price-tag-2023/
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/lgbtq-facts-and-figures
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12916/state-of-the-city-report-2023.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12916/state-of-the-city-report-2023.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/12279/mapping-poverty-2022.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Social Value Policy – Cambridge City Council 

Introduction 

Cambridge City Council is committed to embedding Social Value across its 

operations, particularly in procurement, commissioning, contract and asset 

management. Social Value goes beyond legal compliance it’s a whole-system 

approach aligned with our Community Wealth Building Strategy, enabling 

collaboration with businesses, the voluntary sector, and communities to maximise 

social, environmental, and economic benefits for Cambridge. 

Background 

Under the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 and updated by the Procurement 

Act 2023 and Procurement Regulations (2025), public bodies must consider the 

economic, social, and environmental well-being of their area in procurement. These 

regulations distinguish Social Value from core deliverables and promote inclusive, 

place-based procurement, removing barriers for small or medium-sized enterprises 

(SMEs) and Voluntary Community Sector Enterprises (VCSEs). Cambridge City 

Council commits to going beyond statutory requirements. 

Definition 

Social Value means securing broader community benefits through how we spend, 

manage assets, and deliver services. It considers not just what is delivered, but how, 

and the wider impact positive or negative on people, places, and the planet. 

Policy Context 

This policy supports the Council’s corporate priorities under One Cambridge, Fair for 

All: 

• Tackling climate and biodiversity emergencies 

• Supporting those in the greatest need 

• Building a new generation of council and affordable homes and reducing 

homelessness. 

• Modernising the Council to lead a greener city that is fair for all 

Procurement is a key lever for delivering Social Value, linking to strategies on 

climate change, equalities, the Living Wage, asset use, and cultural development. 

See the Social Value Framework for strategic objectives and practical examples. Page 47

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/corporate-plan-2022-27-our-priorities-for-cambridge#priorities
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/twobc2e0/social-value-framework.pdf


Delivery 

Social Value will be embedded in procurement and contract management as follows: 

1. Inclusion of Social Value metrics in all procurements, which will include 

environmental measures. 

2. Minimum 10% weighting in evaluation; lower weightings require Director 

approval. 

3. Social Value must benefit Cambridge City residents or those working within it. 

4. Social Value offers must be contract-specific, not general corporate initiatives. 

5. Use of National TOMs (Themes, Outcomes, Measures) to assess and 

compare offers transparently. 

6. Businesses submitting tenders are encouraged to incorporate the Match My 

Project platform within their Social Value proposals.  

7. All suppliers awarded contracts should register on the Match My Project 

platform.  

8. Contract managers are responsible for monitoring delivery of Social Value 

commitments, using TOMs to assess both financial and non-financial impact. 

9. Social Value commitments will be treated as all other contractual 

commitments. 

10. Existing suppliers will be informed about and supported to engage with Social 

Value priorities and Match My Project. 

11. Existing contractors without formal contractual measures regarding Social 

Value are encouraged through contract management meetings to contribute 

to the Cities ambitions. 

Review 

This policy will be reviewed annually to reflect legislative changes and evolving 

Council priorities. 

Date written: 31 October 2025 

Next review due: 31 October 2026 

Page 48



Social Value Policy – Cambridge City Council 

Introduction 

Cambridge City Council is committed to embedding Social Value across its 

operations, particularly in procurement, commissioning, contract and asset 

management. Social Value goes beyond legal compliance it’s a whole-system 

approach aligned with our Community Wealth Building Strategy, enabling 

collaboration with businesses, the voluntary sector, and communities to maximise 

social, environmental, and economic benefits for Cambridge. 

Background 

Under the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 and updated by the Procurement 

Act 2023 and Procurement Regulations (2025), public bodies must consider the 

economic, social, and environmental well-being of their area in procurement. These 

regulations distinguish Social Value from core deliverables and promote inclusive, 

place-based procurement, removing barriers for small or medium-sized enterprises 

(SMEs) and Voluntary Community Sector Enterprises (VCSEs). Cambridge City 

Council commits to going beyond statutory requirements. 

Definition 

Social Value means securing broader community benefits through how we spend, 

manage assets, and deliver services. It considers not just what is delivered, but how, 

and the wider impact positive or negative on people, places, and the planet. 

Policy Context 

This policy supports the Council’s corporate priorities under One Cambridge, Fair for 

All: 

• Tackling climate and biodiversity emergencies 

• Supporting those in the greatest need 

• Building a new generation of council and affordable homes and reducing 

homelessness. 

• Modernising the Council to lead a greener city that is fair for all 

Procurement is a key lever for delivering Social Value, linking to strategies on 

climate change, equalities, the Living Wage, asset use, and cultural development. 

See the Social Value Framework for strategic objectives and practical examples. Page 49

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/corporate-plan-2022-27-our-priorities-for-cambridge#priorities
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/twobc2e0/social-value-framework.pdf


Delivery 

Social Value will be embedded in procurement and contract management as follows: 

1. Inclusion of Social Value metrics in all procurements, which will include 

environmental measures. 

2. Minimum 10% weighting in evaluation; lower weightings require Director 

approval. 

3. Social Value must benefit Cambridge City residents or those working within it. 

4. Social Value offers must be contract-specific, not general corporate initiatives. 

5. Use of National TOMs (Themes, Outcomes, Measures) to assess and 

compare offers transparently. 

6. Businesses submitting tenders are encouraged to incorporate the Match My 

Project platform within their Social Value proposals.  

7. All suppliers awarded contracts should register on the Match My Project 

platform.  

8. Contract managers are responsible for monitoring delivery of Social Value 

commitments, using TOMs to assess both financial and non-financial impact. 

9. Social Value commitments will be treated as all other contractual 

commitments. 

10. Existing suppliers will be informed about and supported to engage with Social 

Value priorities and Match My Project. 

11. Existing contractors without formal contractual measures regarding Social 

Value are encouraged through contract management meetings to contribute 

to the Cities ambitions. 

Review 

This policy will be reviewed annually to reflect legislative changes and evolving 

Council priorities. 

Date written: 31 October 2025 

Next review due: 31 October 2026 

Page 50



1 | P a g e  
 

Services, Climate and Communities Scrutiny Committee Update 

2nd December 2025 

Litter Strategy – Task and Finish Work on Bin Fill Levels and Scheduling 

Purpose - Recommendation to Members 

Members are asked to: 

1. Note the outcomes of the bin sensor and digital monitoring trial as an agreed 

task and finish work under the Litter Strategy Action Plan. 

2. Endorse the principle of using sensor data and digital tools to guide bin 

placement, type, and collection schedules in line with the “Right Bin, Right 

Location, Right Reason” policy. 

3. Support the immediate use of evidence from the trial to: 

o Rationalise duplicated usage or underused bins (general, recycling, 

and dog waste) utilising the digital data technology. 

o Adjust routing to maintain the reduction from six to five collection 

rounds, with further efficiencies explored as data builds. 

o Remove low-capacity dog bins that are underused or with nearby 

alternatives as appropriate, accompanied by clear signage that dog 

waste can be placed in general bins. 

4. Agree that requests for new bins should be supported only where sensor 

data and usage evidence demonstrate genuine need, and proposals align 

with Litter Strategy principles. 

5. Request officers to report back in Spring 2026 with: 

o A summary of the next phase of bin rationalisation.  

o An update on cost savings, carbon reduction, and operational benefits 

delivered. 

o Proposals for extending the approach to the city centre and other high-

footfall areas. 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



2 | P a g e  
 

This update is provided to members of the Informal Scrutiny Committee as part of an 

agreed task and finish activity under the Litter Strategy for Cambridge (2023–2030). 

The focus of this work was to trial bin fill-level sensors and digital scheduling tools 

to assess whether technology can improve efficiency, reduce costs, and support 

cleaner public spaces. 

Background 

This update is provided to members of the Scrutiny Committee as part of an agreed 

task and finish activity under the Litter Strategy for Cambridge (2023–2030). 

The focus of this work was to trial bin fill-level sensors and digital scheduling tools 

to assess whether technology can improve efficiency, reduce costs, and support 

cleaner public spaces. 

As part of the Litter Strategy, the Council committed to reviewing the type, number, 

location, and collection schedules for litter and dog waste bins (Action 10 and related 

actions). Members agreed that a trial of smart bin sensors should form part of this 

programme, to provide evidence for future decisions. 

From 28 November 2024, sensors and digital scheduling technology were installed 

and trialled across Trumpington, Cherry Hinton and Queen Ediths, this was extended 

from the 28 July 2025 to focus on all suburban wards and arterial routes (note this 

does not include the city centre). 

What Was Done 

• 267 sensors installed in litter and recycling bins. 

• 928 additional bins mapped into the digital system (without sensors). 

• Sensor and digital data used to identify underused bins (12 recycling, 2 

general waste and 14 dog waste) for rationalisation. 

• Collection routes optimised – reducing six daily rounds to five. 

• Real-time monitoring introduced, using REEN digital technology, to guide 

daily operations. 

Lessons from the Trial Period Analysis (January 2026 until end of April 2026) 

• Many paired bins (recycling/general waste) are underused – data shows 

some take over 100 days to fill this has informed the rationalisation of bins. 

Page 52

https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/documents/s62199/Appendix%20B%20-%20A%20Litter%20Strategy%20for%20Cambridge%20Action%20Plan.pdf
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/documents/s62199/Appendix%20B%20-%20A%20Litter%20Strategy%20for%20Cambridge%20Action%20Plan.pdf


3 | P a g e  
 

• Recycling bins in public places are often contaminated, limiting actual 

recycling gains. 

• Dog waste bins are small, labour-intensive, and use type is often duplicated 

by nearby general waste bins. 

Key Outcomes 

• Operational efficiency: fewer collection rounds, reduced fuel use, and staff 

time released for cleansing and grounds maintenance. 

• Environmental benefits: fewer vehicle trips, reduced carbon impact. 

• Financial benefits: early evidence of cost savings through more efficient 

routing. 

• Public realm quality: fewer overflowing bins, improved monitoring of bin 

usage. 

• Behavioural change: ongoing need to reinforce messaging: ‘dog waste can 

be disposed of in general bins.’ 

Next Steps 

• Continue monitoring and analyse data to inform further rationalisation, from all 

data. The latest data analysis from the Trail area Jan 2025 to 24 Sept 2025 

and the wider extended areas data from 1 August 2025 to 24 Sept 2025, 

shows an expected further ~35 additional predominantly recycling waste and 

~40 dog bin containers across the city. 

• Maintain regular member updates as part of the Litter Strategy action plan. 

Strategic Fit 

This work delivers directly against the Litter Strategy, especially: 

• Action 10 & 10a: review bin types, locations, and recycling arrangements. 

• Action 12a & 14–15: use data to adapt schedules and ensure:  

“Right Bin, Right Location, Right Reason.” 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



   
 

   
 

Services, Climate and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Items and dates are provisional and will be confirmed on the agenda for each meeting. 

Business previously considered by the Services, Climate and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee can be found on the 

council’s website: 

Committee details - Services, Climate and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Cambridge Council 

Name of Item Description of Item Suggested Meeting 
Date 

Service Area Lead Officer 

Local Communities 
and Democratic 
Engagement 

To discuss report issued to council 
from New Local and make 
recommendations on  

7 October 2025 Communities Vicky Haywood, 
Strategic Enabling 
Communities Lead 

Herbicide Free 
Weed Management 
Work Programme 

To receive an update on the 
programme which has been 
implemented across the City: 

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/news/2
025/03/24/new-herbicide-free-weed-
management-work-programme-
approved-for-cambridge 

7 October 2025 City Services Alistair Wilson, 
Assistant Director of 
Public Realm and 
Environment 

TBC: Equalities 
Strategy 

To scrutinise the current strategy and 
reasons for proposed redrafting. 

TBC: 
2 December 2025 
3 February 2026 

Economy and Place Keryn Jalli, Strategic 
Resettlement and 
Community Equity 
Lead 

Community Wealth 
Building Strategy 

Post-scrutiny of impact of agreement 
of strategy approx. 18 months prior 

2 December 2025 TBC TBC 

Impact of changes 
to fees and 
charges 

Post-scrutiny on the impact of 
changes to fees and charges on use 
of council services. 

2 December 2025 TBC TBC 

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 6

https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=535
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1


   
 

   
 

Name of Item Description of Item Suggested Meeting 
Date 

Service Area Lead Officer 

Homelessness 
Strategy 

To consider the recommendations 
from the initial review and to provide 
input into the actions and strategy. 

3 February 2026 TBC TBC 

Update on the 
Climate Change 
Strategy 

The council's current climate change 
strategy runs to 2026 and therefore 
we are beginning work to update it. 
We expect to go to Cabinet for 
approval to consult in autumn 2025 on 
a draft. The period of the next strategy 
ends in 2030 which is the target date 
for achieving net zero in our 
operations. 

3 February 2026 Economy and Place Jemma Little, Head 
of Economy, Energy 
& Climate 

City Centre Heat 
Network 

Pre-scrutiny ahead of report to 
Cabinet on 10 February 2026. 
 
Issue details - City Centre Heat 
Network - Cambridge Council 

3 February 2026 Economy and Place Ben Binns, Assistant 
Director of 
Development 

Culture Strategy TBC TBC: Post-Festival 
2026 

TBC TBC 

Folk Festival Review of 2026 edition and changes 
agreed 2025. 

TBC: Post-Festival 
2026 

TBC TBC 

 

  

P
age 56

https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=34520&PlanId=236&RPID=273633800
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=34520&PlanId=236&RPID=273633800


   
 

   
 

Watching brief/potential items: 

- Bereavement Services 

- Reorganisation of City Services 

- Recyling contract 

The following items are within the remit of the Performance OSC, so would only feature on a Services OSC agenda as it related to 

Services remit specifically 

- Local Growth Plan 

- Cambridge and Peterborough Combined Authority 

- Corporate Plan 

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Community Wealth Building Strategy Implementation
	Appendix 1. CWB outputs and outcomes V1_One page_
	Intermediate outcomes
	Sheet1

	community-wealth-building-strategy
	Structure Bookmarks

	Social Value Policy DRAFT
	social-value-framework

	5 Task and Finish Work on Bin Fill Levels and Scheduling
	6 Work Programme
	Services, Climate and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee




